Planning sour
Committee COUNGIL

Thursday, 8 May 2025 at 1.00 pm
Council Chamber - Council Offices, St. Peter's Hill,
Grantham. NG31 6PZ

Committee Councillor Charmaine Morgan (Chairman)
Members:  Councillor Penny Milnes (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor David Bellamy, Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing, Councillor Pam Byrd,
Councillor Helen Crawford, Councillor Patsy Ellis, Councillor Paul Fellows,
Councillor Tim Harrison, Councillor Gloria Johnson, Councillor Vanessa Smith,
Councillor Sarah Trotter and Councillor Paul Wood

Agenda

This meeting can be watched as a live stream, or at a later date, via the
SKDC Public-1 Channel

1. Register of attendance and apologies for absence

2. Disclosure of interests
Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for
consideration at the meeting

3. Minutes of the meeting held on 3 April 2025 (Pages 3 - 20)

Planning matters
To consider applications received for the grant of planning permission —
reports prepared by the Case Officer.

The anticipated order of consideration is as shown on the agenda, but
this may be subject to change, at the discretion of the Chairman of the
Committee.

4.1 Application S25/0203 (Pages 21 - 43)
Proposal: Change of use from Use Class C3 Residential Dwelling
House to Use Class C2 Children’s Care Home
Location: 9A School Lane, Colsterworth, Lincolnshire NG33 5NW
Recommendation: To authorise the Assistant Director — Planning &
Growth to GRANT planning permission, subject to conditions

Published and dispatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Tuesday, 29 April 2025.
{ 01476 406080
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive
www.southkesteven.gov.uk



mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
https://southkesteven.public-i.tv/core/portal/home
https://southkesteven.public-i.tv/core/portal/home

4.2

Application S24/2191 (Pages 45 - 76)
Proposal: Installation of solar farm with associated battery storage,

comprising ground mounted solar photovoltaic panels, including

mounting systems, inverters and transformers, electrical substation,

underground cabling, stock proof fencing, CCTV, internal access tracks

and associated infrastructure for a temporary period of 40 years

Location: Land adjacent to Spalding Road, Bourne, Lincolnshire

Recommendation: To authorise the Assistant Director — Planning &

Growth to GRANT planning permission, subject to conditions

Any other business, which the Chairman, by reason of
special circumstances, decides is urgent



Agenda Item 3

SOUTH
KESTEVEN
DISTRICT
COUNCIL

Minutes

Planning Committee
Thursday, 3 April 2025, 1.00pm

Council Chamber - South Kesteven
House, St. Peter’s Hill, Grantham,
NG31 6PZ

Committee Members present

Councillor Charmaine Morgan (Chairman)
Councillor Penny Milnes (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor David Bellamy
Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing
Councillor Pam Byrd
Councillor Helen Crawford
Councillor Patsy Ellis
Councillor Paul Fellows
Councillor Tim Harrison
Councillor Sarah Trotter
Councillor Max Sawyer

Cabinet Members present
Councillor Phil Dilks (Cabinet Member for Planning)
Officers

Emma Whittaker (Assistant Director of Planning and Growth)

Phil Jordan (Development Management & Enforcement Manager)
Adam Murray (Principal Development Management Planner)
Kevin Cartwright (Senior Planning Officer)

Amy Pryde (Democratic Services Officer)

Paul Weeks (Legal Advisor)

126. Register of attendance and apologies for absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Vanessa Smith, Paul Wood
and Gloria Johnson.

Councillor Max Sawyer substituted for Councillor Vanessa Smith.

127. Disclosure of interests



128.

129.

Councillor Helen Crawford declared an interest on application S24/1842 as she had
registered to speak as Ward Councillor, she would not participate in the debate or
vote.

Councillor Patsy Ellis declared an interest on application S24/2106 due to being a
Director of LeisureSK Ltd. She would not participate in the debate or vote and
would leave the Chamber.

The Chairman made the following statement:

‘With regards to item 6 of the Agenda, | make a declaration on behalf of all
members that whilst it is acknowledged that the applicant is the Council, this will not
affect how members of the planning committee determine the application. All
members have been trained and will determine the application in accordance with
their planning training and with an open mind. Any member who does not feel they
are open minded to determine the application today should make a declaration to
that effect and not vote on the application.’

Minutes of the meeting held on 6 March 2025

The minutes of the meeting held on 6 March 2025 were proposed, seconded and
AGREED as a correct record.

Application S24/1842

Proposal: Proposed demolition of existing buildings and erection of
new 66 bed care home for elderly people

Location: The Woodlands, Tarragon Way, Bourne, Lincolnshire

Recommendation: To authorise the Assistant Director — Planning to GRANT

planning permission, subject to conditions and the
completion of a Section 106 legal agreement

Noting comments in the public speaking session by:

District Ward Councillor Councillor Helen Crawford
Against Matthew Barber
Applicant Jo Kemp

Together with:

¢ Provisions within SKDC Local Plan 2011-2036 and National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF).

No comments received from Environmental Protection Services (SKDC).
Comments received from LCC Highways & SuDS Support.

Comments received from NHS Lincolnshire Integrated Care Board.
Comments received from Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue.

Comments received from Anglian Water.



o Comments received from Environment Agency.
° No comments received from Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust.
. No comments received from Lincolnshire Police.

During questions to Public Speakers, Members commented on:

o One Member queried the existing parking concerns within the vicinity of the
proposal.

The Public Speaker noted that residents and or visitors parked along the road
rather than designated parking. Concern was raised on HGV’s accessing the
proposed site through Tarragon Way, Bourne with vehicles parking along the road.

o A query was raised on a ransom strip within proximity to the site.

It was highlighted the ransom strip was formerly to access the proposed site. The
ransom strip had been sold to a third party and was not permitted for any
development. It was confirmed that the developer for the ransom strip had declined
all offers for any development.

o It was queried how long Coriander Drive, Bourne had been a cul-de-sac for.

The Public Speaker noted that Coriander Drive, Bourne had been a cul-de-sac
since it was built around 2002.

o One Member outlined the possibility of land to the north of the proposed site
becoming a housing development in the near future, where the cul-de-sac
could be used as an access road.

The Public Speaker highlighted that if the ransom strip became available for access
to the site, all objections and concerns regarding parking on Tarragon Way would
be addressed.

The Assistant Director for Planning and Growth reminded the Committee to
determine the application and access proposed on its own merits as set out in the
report.

o The Public Speaker was asked whether their concerns on access related to
traffic health and safety or the amenity of residents.

The Public Speakers main concern related to the 12-month build period down the
cul-de-sac which he felt was not suitable access for a construction site. At present,
there were up to 18 cars parking and manoeuvring in the cul-de-sac.

o A Member queried whether the Public Speaker (who occupied near to the
proposed site) was aware of the double entrance gate meaning potential
development to the north of the site.



The Public Speaker was not aware of the site being used for further development.
At present, the double entrance gate was used for the landowner to access a skip
and collect waste.

o One Member asked the Applicant whether they had considered gaining
access from a nearby roundabout where the access would be direct without
disruption to residents.

The Applicant confirmed the previous owners of the house on the proposed site
historically did access the site from the nearby roundabout, however, there had
been an alternative ownership of land.

o It was queried whether the Applicant had requested permanent access or
temporary building access during construction period.

The Applicant confirmed the land in question was preserved POS land. It was
clarified that legally the Applicant’s could not seek access through the existing
access, due to the third-party ransom strip.

The Applicant confirmed they were made aware of residents concerns of access
and loss of the driveway through their objections.

o A query was raised on whether the Applicant’s had considered providing a
small parking allocation within the development for use of the residents.

The Applicant’s were happy to liaise with residents and engage with the community
throughout the construction phase. It was felt there wasn’t enough space on the site
to provide parking for residents as well as staff. Temporary parking may be offered
to residents during the construction phase of the project.

o Concern was raised on healthy mature specimen trees being cut down. It was
gueried how many trees would be removed in the process.

The Applicant confirmed 20 trees would be removed in the process, however, they
would be planting 95 more trees. Trees would always try to be relocated before
removal; however, this was not always possible.

o Whether there would be a limit on the size of vehicles accessing the site
during construction phase and whether articulated lorries would need access.

The Applicant clarified that a site access through a residential estate would be
limited to a rigid vehicle which were smaller HGV’s. Where larger vehicles may be
required, the Site Manager would liaise with residents directly to cause minimal
disruption.

o Whether there would be any management regarding potential mud and debris
on the road leading to and from the site.



It was confirmed the Construction Management Plan included a commitment to the
use of a ‘wheel wash’ on site, alongside dust management techniques and a road
sweeper if required.

o It was queried whether there was enough space within the car park for the
manoeuvrability of ambulances and fire engines.

The proposal included an ambulance bay/drop-off area outside the main entrance
to the building. Vehicle tracking had taking place to ensure a sufficient turning area
for a refuse vehicle/fire engine.

o It was queried whether the Applicant’s had investigated costs on relocating
trees up to 30ft high rather than removing the trees.

The Applicant confirmed wherever possible, trees would be relocated rather than
removed his decision would be made on advice provided by an arboriculturist.

o Whether the site would produce the generation of renewable energy and
batter storage.

It was confirmed the proposal was for PV panels on the roof and ground source
heat pumps which would generate over 70% of the home’s energy. The battery
storage would store any surplus energy, which could be used when the solar panels
were not producing to a capacity due to weather conditions.

During question to Officers and debate, Members commented on:

It was clarified that the construction management plan was conditioned, and the
Council would request details, including hours of operation, demolition and
construction in liaison with Environmental Protection in relation to noise,
disturbance and impact on amenity.

o Whether ornamental would be replaced by native trees, which would mitigate
loss.

o It was suggested that the Applicant show sympathy to residents and allow
extra car parking spaces for residents, which would assist in reducing
problems during the construction period.

o Clarification was sought on whether all trees were ornamental. Concern was
raised that established trees be removed and not relocated.

The Senior Planning Officer stated it was unknown whether all trees were
ornamental. As part of the planting scheme, a number of extra heavy standard trees
would be planted at 4 metres high with the rest being planted at 3 metres high.

o It was queried whether the concerns raised could be included when the
construction plan was considered.

(The Committee had a 5-minute recess)



The Chairman clarified that a construction plan had been received, however, if the
application was approved as recommended, further points of concern could not be
added onto the construction plan. It was highlighted that a request for a new
construction plan including concerns raised could be recommended by the
Committee.

o One Member queried whether a full report from the Council’s Tree Officer
could be requested in order to establish the types of trees, and which trees
could be relocated.

The Assistant Director of Planning and Growth clarified that the Planning team did
not currently have a Tree Officer, however an Officer in a different team would
provide support when necessary. It was confirmed that a comprehensive tree
survey accompanied the application and no comments had been received from the
Tree Officer on the survey.

o That native trees were preferred to enhance wildlife.

o In order to recognise local residents concerns around vehicle movements. The
Committee could request a travel plan as a condition in order to emphasise
the use of car sharing and public transport.

o Whether the new details of the construction plan could be shared with the
Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Committee and the Assistant Director of
Planning and Growth in order to ensure concerns raised have been included.

o It was noted that a biodiversity net gain plan had been provided. It was
gueried whether net gain would be met on site due to the removal of trees.

The Planning Officer confirmed the 10% biodiversity net gain and plan would need
to be demonstrated within the landscaping scheme.

It was proposed, seconded and AGREED to authorise the Assistant Director —
Planning & Growth to GRANT planning permission, subject to conditions and the
completion of a Section 106 legal agreement:

Time Limit for Commencement

1 The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration
of three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set
out in Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Approved Plans

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
planning application form, and with the following list of approved plans:

(1) Location Plan



(2) Proposed Site Plan — Dwg No. PE10 9NJ-A-03-A

(3) Proposed Elevations — Dwg. No. PE10 9NJ-A-05

(4) Proposed Floor and Roof Plans — Dwg No. PE10 9NJ — A-04
(5) Soft Landscape Specification — Dwg. No. MR24-093/101 Rev B

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.
Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.
Prior to Commencement

3 Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, plans showing the
existing and proposed land levels of the site including [site sections, spot heights,
contours and the finished floor levels of all buildings] with reference to
[neighbouring properties/an off-site datum point] shall have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved
detalils.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and in accordance with
Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

4 Notwithstanding the submitted details before any of the works on the external
elevations above damp proof course for the building(s) and the infilling of the
boundary wall to the southern elevation hereby permitted are begun, samples of the
materials (including colour of any render, paintwork or colourwash) to be used in
the construction of the external surfaces shall have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in
accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Prior to Occupation

5 Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted the surface and
foul drainage for the site shall be undertaken in accordance with Proposed
Drainage Strategy WOBO-BSP-XX-XX-T-W-0001-P04_Drainage_Strategy dated
11 Feb 2025 and retained as such thereatfter.

Reason: To ensure that the proposed drainage is suitable for the development, and
in accordance with the technical information relating drainage within the current
application, to ensure that the development will accord with Policy EN5 of the Local
Plan.



6 Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted the hard landscaping
works shall have been undertaken in accordance with Proposed Site Plan — Dwg
No. PE10 9NJ-A-03-A and retained as such thereatfter.

Reason: Hard landscaping makes an important contribution to the
development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with
Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

7 Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied/brought into
use, the storage of refuse and recycling and cycle storage shall be undertaken in
accordance with Proposed Site Plan — Dwg No. PE10 9NJ-A-03-A and retained as
such thereafter.

Reason: To ensure the provision of satisfactory facilities for the storage of refuse
and promote sustainable means of travel.

8 Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied/brought into
use, the vehicle parking and turning area shall have been undertaken in
accordance with Proposed Site Plan — Dwg No. PE10 9NJ-A-03-A and retained as
such thereafter.

Reason: To ensure that adequate parking provision is provided and retained in
order to minimise on street parking and to ensure that vehicles can enter and leave
premises in a forward gear in the interests of highway safety.

9  Before the end of the first planting/seeding season following the
occupation/first use of any part of the development hereby permitted, all soft
landscape works shall have been carried out in accordance with the approved soft
landscaping details Soft Landscape Specification — Dwg. No. MR24-093/101 Rev B.

Reason: Soft landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the
development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with
Policies DE1, EN3 and OS1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

10 Within a period of five years from the first occupation of the development
hereby permitted, any trees or plants provided as part of the approved soft
landscaping scheme, that die or become, in the opinion of the Local Planning
Authority, seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced in the first planting
season following any such loss with a specimen of the same size and species as
was approved in condition above unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning
Authority.

Reason: To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance of a reasonable

standard of landscape in accordance with the approved designs and in accordance
with Policies DE1, EN3 and OS1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

10



11 Within seven days of the new access being brought into use, the existing
access onto Tarragon Way (South of the site that serves the dwelling) shall be
permanently closed in accordance with details to be agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority.

Reason: To reduce to a minimum, the number of individual access points to the
Tarragon Way in the interests of road safety.

12 No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied before the
works to improve the public highway by installation of a Zebra Crossing adjacent to
the Bus Station have been certified complete by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the provision of safe and adequate means of access to the
permitted development for travel by Bus.

13 The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied before the 8
pedestrian crossing points over Exeter Street (junction with Tin Lane, junction with
Exeter Gardens, junction with Burghley Street, Junction with Exeter Close, junction
with Exeter Court, crossings at the with Tarragon Way, junction with St Gilberts
Road ) have been upgraded to tactile crossing points, to improve the existing
footway network for vision impaired pedestrians, they will be provided in
accordance with details that shall first have been submitted to, and approved in
writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The works shall also include appropriate
arrangements for the management of surface water run-off from the highway.

Reason: To ensure the provision of safe and adequate pedestrian access to the
permitted development, without increasing flood risk to the highway and adjacent
land and property.

14 Before the development is occupied, all of that part of the estate road and
associated footways that forms the junction with the main road and which will be
constructed within the limits of the existing highway, shall be laid out and
constructed to finished surface levels in accordance with details to be submitted to,
and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of safety, to avoid the creation of pedestrian trip hazards
within the public highway from surfacing materials, manholes and gullies that may
otherwise remain for an extended period at dissimilar, interim construction levels.
During Construction

15 During any demolition/construction all existing trees and hedges to be retained
shall be protected in accordance with Arboricultural Impact Assessment Drawing
No. Arbtech AIA 01 Rev A and Tree Protection Drawing No. Arbtech TPP o0l Rev A.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development.

11



16 The development hereby permitted shall be undertaken in accordance with
the sustainable development design and construction methods as set out in the
approved Sustainability Statement — LNT Care Developments dated October 2024.

Reason: To ensure that the development mitigates against, and adapts to climate
change, in accordance with Policy SB1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

17 Notwithstanding the submitted details no development (including any site
clearance/preparation or demolition works) shall be carried out until a
Construction/Demolition Environmental Management Plan has been submitted to
the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing. Details shall provide but not
limited to the following details, which shall be adhered to throughout the period of
development:

e the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;

loading/unloading and storage of construction materials

wheel cleaning facilities and road cleaning arrangements;

measures to control the emission of dust and noise during demolition /construction;

a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from site preparation demolition
and construction works;

hours of demolition/construction work, site opening times, hours of deliveries and
removal of materials; and

routeing of demolition/construction traffic

Reason: To minimise detrimental effects to the neighbouring amenities and the
amenities of the area in general, having regard to Local Plan Policy DE1 and the
National Planning Policy Framework.

18 Prior to the occupation/first use of any part of the development hereby permitted,
a Full Travel Plan shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for agreement
in writing. The Full Travel Plan shall be implemented from the date of first
use/occupation of the development, and shall be in place/action at all times when
the development permitted is in use.

Reason: To ensure that the Travel Plan is developed, adopted, and retained at all
times, in order to encourage sustainable modes of transport to and from the site in
accordance with the principles of sustainable development as advocated by the
NPPF.

Note to Applicant: The applicant is advised that deliveries to and from the site
should not be by articulated heavy goods vehicles during both the
demolition/construction phase and operational phase of the development in the
interests of the reasonable residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers.

(The Committee had a 15-minute break)

10

12



130. Application S24/1681

Proposal: Application for the approval of reserved matters relating
to access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale for
convenience store (Class E) as part of local centre
pursuant to outline planning permission S08/1231

Location: Land to the west of Penryhn Way, Poplar Farm,
Grantham

Recommendation: To authorise the Assistant Director — Planning & Growth
to GRANT reserved matters consent, subject to
conditions

Noting comments in the public speaking session by:
Applicant Stuart Bizley and William Lee (Buckminster)
Together with:

e Provisions within SKDC Local Plan 2011-2036, Design Guidelines for Rutland
and South Kesteven Supplementary Planning Document, National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF) and South Kesteven Local Plan Review 2021-2041.
No comments received from Anglian Water.

Comments received from Grantham Town Council.

Comments received from Lincolnshire County Council (Highways & SuDS).
No comments received from Lincolnshire Police Crime Prevention Officer.

No comments received from Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust.

No comments received from Network Rail.

No comments received from SKDC Environmental Protection.

No comments received from SKDC Principal Urban Design Officer.

During questions to Public Speakers, Members commented on:

e Whether the Applicant had any plans to include EV charging points within the
proposal.

The Applicant confirmed EV charging points would be included within the car
parking area of the proposal.

o One Member sought figures of residents in favour of the proposal.
The Principal Planning Officer clarified the figures had been provided from
Grantham Town Council as a consultee. The Council had received 2 comments

from members of the public on the application.

o A query was raised on the plans around solar panels and sustainable
electricity.

11

13



The Applicant confirmed all climate change measures would be driven via policy
and the requirements of the end user and occupier.

(A declaration was made that Councillors Charmaine Morgan and Tim Harrison
were Members of Grantham Town Council, however, they had not been involved
with the application),

During question to Officers and debate, Members commented on:

o That the ground would be levelled and therefore the height of the shop would
not impose on any surrounding buildings.

o The local need for a shop in the residential area was highlighted. It was noted
that this may encourage more sustainable travel and reduce traffic concerns
on Harrowby Road.

It was proposed, seconded and AGREED to authorise the Assistant Director —
Planning & Growth to GRANT reserved matters consent, subject to conditions:

Approved Plans

1) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following list of approved plans:

a.Site Location Plan (Ref: J2138/001/01/Rev A)

b.Proposed Block Plan (Ref: J2138/001/03/Rev A)

c.Proposed Site Layout Plan (Ref: J2138/001/04/Rev A)

d.Proposed Ground Floor and Roof Plan (Ref: J2138/001/06/Rev B)

e.Proposed Elevation Plan (Ref: J2138/001/07/Rev A)

f. Proposed Colour Elevation Plan (Ref: J2138/001/08/Rev A)

g.Proposed Boundary Treatment Plan (Ref: J2138/001/09/Rev A)

h.Existing and Proposed Section Plan (Ref: J2138/001/05/Rev A)

i. Proposed Planting Plan (Ref: SL0490/02)
Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.
Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.
Before the Development is Commenced
Residential Amenity
Construction Management Plan

2) No works pursuant to this permission, including demolition of buildings hereby
permitted, until a Construction and Environmental Management Plan has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted
Plan and Statement shall include measures to mitigate the adverse impacts of
noise, dust and vehicular movements during the construction stages of the
permitted development. The submitted document shall include:

a.The phasing of the development

b.Construction and delivery hours

c.The parking of all vehicles of site operatives and visitors

d.The on-site loading and unloading of all plant and materials.

e.The on-site storage of all plant and materials used in constructing the development.

f. The routing of all vehicles associated with the demolition and construction activities
of the development.

12

14



g.Wheel washing facilities
h.A strategy stating how surface water runoff on and from the development will be

managed during construction, and protection measures for any sustainable
drainage features. This should include drawing(s) showing how the drainage
systems (temporary or permanent) connect to an outfall (temporary or permanent)
during construction.

i. Ecological Management Plan, including appointment of an Ecological Clerk of Works,

3)

4)

and the implementation of Natural England licences as required.

The Construction Management Plan shall be strictly adhered to throughout the
construction period.

Reason: To minimise the effects of the demolition and construction activities on the
residential amenity of neighbouring properties and the public highway and protected
species.

Before the Development is Operational

Design Quality and Visual Impact

Landscaping Implementation

Before the store hereby permitted is first brought into use, all hard and soft
landscaping as shown on the approved plans shall have been completed in
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development in accordance
with Policy DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) of the adopted South Kesteven
Local Plan.

Landscape and Ecological Management Plan

Before the store hereby permitted is first brought into use, a Landscape and
Ecological Management Plan shall have been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. The plan shall include:

a.Long term design objectives
b.Management responsibilities
c.Maintenance schedules for all landscaped areas

5)

Thereafter, the development shall be operated and maintained in accordance with
the approved Landscape and Ecological Management Plan.

Reason: To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance of a reasonable
standard of landscaping in accordance with the approved designs; and in
accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted Local Plan.

Amenity

Delivery Management Plan

Before the store hereby permitted is first brought into use, a Delivery Management
Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The submitted plan shall include:

e Delivery hours

e Measures to reduce noise impacts during the arrival of delivery vehicles.

e Measures to reduce noise impacts during loading and unloading of delivery vehicles.
e Measures to reduce noise impacts during the departure of delivery vehicles.

Thereatfter, the development shall be operated in accordance with the approved
Delivery Management Plan for the lifetime of the development, unless otherwise
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

13

15



6)

7

8)

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not have unacceptable
adverse impact on neighbouring amenity in accordance with Policy DE1 and Policy
EN4 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Lighting Scheme

Prior to the store being brought into use, details of external lighting, together with
times of illumination shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. Once approved the lighting shall be installed and managed in
accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To protect the amenities of the locality and comply with Policy DE1
Adopted South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 and comply with the aims and
objectives of the NPPF.

Flood Risk and Drainage

Drainage Strateqy Implementation

Before the development hereby permitted is first operational, the surface and foul
water drainage strategy shall have been completed in accordance with the details
shown on the approved plan (Ref: 24B38-DWG-DR-01/P1), unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that the development does not give rise to an unacceptable
flood risk as required by Policy EN5 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.
Ongoing Conditions

Principle of Development

Change of Use

Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2 Part 3 of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order
revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without modification, the premises shall
only be used for the purposes specified below and for no other purpose, including
any other purposes in Class E of the schedule to the Town and Country Planning
(Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended), unless planning permission for a new use
of the premises have been granted by the Local Planning Authority.

e Convenience store (Use Class E(a))

9)

Reason: The use of the premises for any other purpose at this location could result
in impacts that would require further assessment by the Local Planning Authority,
and may result in conflicts with the outline planning permission.

Design Quality and Visual Impact

Landscape Protection

Within a period of five years from the store being brought into use, any trees or
plants provided as part of the approved soft landscaping scheme that die or
become, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, seriously damaged or
defective, shall be replaced in the first planting seasons following any such loss with
a specimen of the same size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance of a reasonable
standard of landscaping in accordance with the approved designs; and in
accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted Local Plan.

Amenity

Operational Hours

14

16



10)The operational hours of the proposed convenience store hereby permitted shall be

131.

limited to the following hours:
0700-22:30 hours Monday to Sunday (including public holidays).
Reason: To protect the amenity of neighbouring land uses.

Application S24/2106
(Councillor Patsy Ellis left the meeting due to being a Director of LeisureSK Ltd).
Proposal: Installation of Air Source Heat Pumps and evaporator

decks and erection of timber fencing enclosure to rear of
the main leisure centre building

Location: Grantham Meres Leisure Centre, Trent Road, Grantham,
NG31 7XQ
Recommendation: To authorise the Assistant Director — Planning & Growth

to GRANT planning permission, subject to conditions
Together with:

o Provisions within SKDC Local Plan 2011-2036, National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF) and Design Guidelines for Rutland and South Kesteven.
Comments received from LCC Highways & SuDS.

No comments received from Grantham Town Council.

Comments received from Cadent Gas.

Comments received from Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust.

No comments received from Environmental Protection.

During question to Officers and debate, Members commented on:

o A query was raised as to why the proposal was for air source rather than
ground source.

The Principal Planning Officer clarified the application was for an air source heat
pump and was a decision of the Applicant’s.

o It was queried whether the biodiversity net gain was a strict requirement for
the application.

It was confirmed that biodiversity net gain was a mandatory requirement on most
planning permissions. The Applicant had covered the requirements in terms via
submission of the metric which established baseline details. There was a
mandatory pre-commencement planning condition which secured the details of how
the net gain would be achieved.

It was proposed, seconded and AGREED to authorise the Assistant Director —
Planning & Growth to GRANT planning permission, subject to conditions:

Time Limit for Commencement

15

17



132.

The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of
three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set
out in Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).
Approved Plans

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following list of approved plans:

Site Location Plan received 12 February 2025

Drawing No.PLO7 Rev P01 External Pod Location

Drawing No.E.2100 Rev PO1External Site Services

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.

Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.

During Building Works

Before any of the works on the external elevations for the building(s) hereby
permitted are begun, samples of the materials (including colour of any render,
paintwork or colourwash) to be used in the construction of the external surfaces
shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in
accordance with

Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Before the Building is Occupied

Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied/brought into use,
the external surfaces shall have been completed in accordance with the approved
details.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in
accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.
Informatives

1) The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 is that planning permission granted for the development
of land in England is deemed to have been granted subject to the condition "(the
biodiversity gain condition") that development may not begin unless:

(a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and
(b) the planning authority has approved the plan.

The planning authority, for the purposes of determining whether to approve a
Biodiversity Gain Plan if one is required in respect of this permission would be
South Kesteven District Council.

There are statutory exemptions and transitional arrangements which mean that the
biodiversity gain condition does not always apply. These are listed below.

Based on the information available this permission is considered to be one which
will require the approval of a biodiversity gain plan before development is begun
because none of the statutory exemptions or transitional arrangements listed are
considered to apply.

Any other business, which the Chairman, by reason of special circumstances,
decides is urgent

There were none.

16

18



133. Close of meeting

The Chairman closed the meeting at 15:10.

17

19



This page is intentionally left blank

20



S25/0203

SOUTH
KESTEVEN
DISTRICT
COUNCIL

Agenda Iltem 4a

Planning Committee

8 May 2025

Proposal: Change of use from Use Class C3 Residential Dwelling House to Use
Class C2 Children’s Care Home

Location: 9A School Lane, Colsterworth, Lincolnshire NG33 5NW

Applicant: Esland North Limited

Agent: Mr Nathan Turner, Gillings Planning Limited

Application Type:

Full Planning Permission

Reason for Referral to
Committee:

Called by Councillor Bellamy citing concerns relating to:
¢ Residential amenity
e Road safety and parking

Key Issues:

¢ Residential Amenity
e Highways and Transport

Technical Documents:

Transport Note

Parking Plan

Swept Path Analysis

Flood Risk Assessment Note

Report Author

Venezia Ross-Gilmore — Senior Planning Officer

@ 01476 406419

2 Venezia.ross-gilmore@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority:

Growth

Reviewed by:

Adam Murray — Principal Development Management
Planner

Decision type:

Regulatory ‘ Isaac Newton

29 April 2025

21



http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

To authorise the Assistant Director — Planning & Growth to GRANT planning permission,
subject to conditions.

22



23

Key

Application
Boundary

2

ol

“er'e

ve



1.1

1.2

2.1

2.2

3.1

3.2

3.3

Description of Site

The application site, n0.9A School Lane, is a detached dwellinghouse situated on School
Lane, in the village of Colsterworth. The dwelling is central to School Lane, and consists of
a 4-bedroom house with a double garage and off-road parking, adjacent to the River
Witham. The dwelling has garden amenity space to the front, side and rear.

The surrounding area consists of residential use, with a mainly detached and semi-detached
houses or bungalows. The Church cemetery is situated opposite to the application site, with
an access off School Lane.

Description of the Proposal

The planning application seeks a proposed change of use from a Residential Dwellinghouse
(Use Class C3) to a small Children’s Home (Use Class C2) for 2 children.

Class V of the General Permitted Development Order is a mechanism to create a dual-use
planning permission, and in effect planning permission is sought for the change of use to
two separate planning uses that can be used interchangeable over a 10-year period. After
this time period, the authorised use will be the last use on the relevant date.

Policy Considerations

South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (Adopted January 2020)

Policy SD1 — The Principles of Sustainable Development
Policy SP1 — Spatial Strategy

Policy SP2 — Settlement Hierarchy

Policy SP3 — Infill Development

Policy H4 — Meeting All Housing Needs

Policy EN5 — Water Environment and Flood Risk Management
Policy DE1 — Promoting Good Quality Design

Policy SB1 — Sustainable Building

Policy ID2 — Transport and Strategic Transport Infrastructure

Design Guidelines for Rutland and South Kesteven Supplementary Planning
Document (Adopted November 2021)

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (Updated December 2024)

Section 2 — Achieving sustainable development

Section 9 — Promoting sustainable transport

Section 12 — Achieving well-designed places

Section 14 — Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Section 16 — Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

24



3.4

4.2

4.3

Colsterworth and District Neighbourhood Plan 2016-2026

Policy 1 — Residential Development
Policy 7 — Heritage Assets

Representations Received
Historic England

Do not wish to comment.

SKDC Environmental Protection

No comments to make.

Lincolnshire County Council Highways
No objections.

Comments

‘Having given due regard to the appropriate local and national planning policy guidance (in
particular the National Planning Policy Framework), Lincolnshire County Council (as
Highway Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority) has concluded that the proposed
development would not be expected to have an unacceptable impact upon highway safety
or a severe residual cumulative impact upon the local highway network or increase surface
water flood risk and therefore does not wish to object to this planning application.

As Lead Local Flood Authority, Lincolnshire County Council is required to provide a statutory
planning consultation response with regard to drainage and surface water flood risk on all
Major applications. This application is classified as a Minor Application and it is therefore
the duty of the Local Planning Authority to consider the surface water flood risk and drainage
proposals for this planning application.

The proposal is for the change of use from a residential dwelling to a children’s care home
for two children. It is proposed to utilise the existing access which meets the guidelines as
set out in Manual for Streets and adequate provision for car parking is proposed within the
limits of the site. Lincolnshire County Council does not have adopted parking standards and
considers each application on its own merits. This proposal has 5 spaces, which is
considered to be an appropriate level of parking. Therefore, it is considered that these
proposals would not result in an unacceptable impact on highway safety.

The proposals are served by School Lane which has existing problems with regards to the
condition of the road. The traffic impact of the development is estimated at 14 vehicles per
day, this level of traffic does not require improvements to the highway which meet the CIL
tests of being necessary, fair and reasonable and directly related.

There is no precise definition of "severe" with regards to NPPF Paragraph 116, which
advises that "Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if
there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative
impacts on the road network, following mitigation, would be severe, taking into account all
reasonable future scenarios." Planning Inspector's decisions regarding severity are specific
to the locations of each proposal, but have common considerations:

e The highway network is over-capacity, usually for period extending beyond the peak
hours

25



4.4

4.5

e The level of provision of alternative transport modes
e Whether the level of queuing on the network causes safety issues.

In view of these criteria, the Highways and Lead Local Flood Authority does not consider
that this proposal would result in a severe impact with regard to NPPF'.

Environment Agency
No objections.

‘Whilst the red line boundary includes areas within Flood Zone 2 of our Flood Map for
Planning, the proposed change of use is located within Flood Zone 1.

Furthermore, as the proposal is a change of use from a ‘more vulnerable’ use
(dwellinghouse) to a ‘more vulnerable use’ (children’s care home), and therefore does not
propose an increase in risk to people, we do not wish to object to the application’.

Provided Informative comments regarding signing up for flood warnings, and information
on the Environment Agency website.

Colsterworth Parish Council
Objections.
Comments:

‘1. We would like to thank SKDC as the Planning Authority for extending the deadline for
our comments to 22 April 2025 to take account of the strength of opposition to this proposal
and late notification for consultation.

2. At out meeting on 01 April 2025, the Parish Council resolved to object to this application
following a number of residents raising concerns directly with Councillors at the Public
Session. This is also evidenced by the significant, considered and detailed number of
responses already registered on the Planning Authority’s Planning Portal which we would
urge the Planning Authority to give due consideration.

3. We have received representations regarding a number of omissions and inconsistencies
in the application with inaccurate/missing information relating to this specific proposed site,
therefore, the Parish Council supports this application being considered at full Planning
Committee and not delegated to Officers. This will afford the Planning Committee to have a
site visit to properly assess the lack of suitability for the change in use from residential to
commercial children’s home and the impact on the neighbouring residents and wider
community. We would expect this to consider:-

- Disruption from increased traffic both in volume and time of day (e.g., school runs, staff
movements - in the morning and late at night)

- Unrealistic estimates of traffic volume.

- Unrealistic/unsafe parking plan on the property.

- Narrowness of School Lane as well as issues with the junction at the top with a very busy
High Street

- The increase in traffic and road safety and suitability of the Lane (particularly when icy or
flooded.

- The parking arrangements at the property and safe entry/egress

- Access for utility and emergency services

- The physical alterations in adapting the home to provide certain levels of care and safety
for the most vulnerable of residents (e.g., additional lighting, CCTV, fire points)

26



- Noise and disturbance (from traffic and light pollution)

- Loss of wildlife in the area (there are bats and owls present)

- Overall effects on the area - this includes the character, availability of infrastructure,
position, design and external appearance of buildings and landscaping

- Precedents set by other Local Planning committees; the applicant has recently had very
similar applications rejected by Melton Borough Council and Huntingdon district councils.

4. Having considered the Amended Application Form, we would specifically question with
the Planning Authority the following statements in the application:-

- Recruitment for the home manager has already been undertaken for the change of use
to a children's home but the application states no work has already commenced?

- The property has been empty since October 2024 but the application states it is not
vacant?

- Vehicle Parking: States existing spaces = 5; this does not seem adequate at staff shift
change times and something that conditions will not mitigate?

- Access: There are two entries into the site. One is the long curved vehicle access and
the other a flight of steep steps. The nature of these steps might be acceptable to a
potential home owner but are they safe for a commercial property and regular use by the
residents and staff? The steps seem unsuitable for disabled access. We would ask
whether this would impact on the vehicle parking spaces and traffic movements to ensure
suitable and safe access?

- Trees and hedges: Has a full tree survey been received or be required bearing in mind
that it has been reported that trees and hedges have already been removed? This is
important for the local landscape character.

- Biodiversity: Please justify the reason why biodiversity net gain does not apply: the
application includes a change of use only for a building and its curtilage, but it still exceeds
25 sg m; the site exceeds 1600sq m? 227 sq m has been stated on the application form
as change of use with two additional rooms?

- Waste Storage and collection. As this is a commercial enterprise waste storage and
collection should not fall to SKDC therefore, are existing arrangements no longer valid?

- Proposed employees - no estimate given to base the traffic management plan?

- Risk of flood waters: The property is closer to the water course than stated and poses a
risk to residents and children.

5.The Parish Council understands that careful consideration is needed when identifying a
suitable location for such a facility and the Parish Council would not object/comment on
facilities such as this in principle due to the complex and challenging needs of the residents.
However, we believe that this is a perceptible change of use and is therefore a material
consideration.

6. We would make the following specific representations:-
6.1 Highways Safety and Traffic Levels

The proposed location is on an historical lane in the rural village of Colsterworth off the High
Street. The Lane narrows considerably at the point of the property the subject of this
application. It has been acknowledged by LCC Highways as having existing problems with
the condition of the road which is only partially adopted. We can also confirm that the
gradient of the road is hazardous in icy conditions and the Lane is subject to flooding.

27



4.6

4.7

4.8

The access/egress to/from School Lane at the junction with the High Street has been well
documented as a road safety concern for all road users including pedestrians (especially
with wheelchairs and pushchairs) and known to LCC Highways as a hazard. This is further
exacerbated when there are closures on the Al and traffic routes itself via the High Street.

The total nature of out Villages also means that these lanes and footpaths are predominantly
used as pedestrian access to local amenities, other estates and Villages and this will
increase the risks for pedestrians, particularly children and cyclists.

We note the response form Lincolnshire County Council Highways regarding the NPPF
paragraph 116 which we believe relates to housing development and main highways
however we would suggest that LCC also consider NPPF paragraph 117, particularly in
relation to pedestrians using the county lanes and footpaths in the village.

6.2 Effects on the area — this includes the character of an area, availability of infrastructure,
density, over-development, layout, position, design and external appearance of buildings
and landscaping.

- Unsuitability of a village such as Colsterworth for the children, due to lack of activities and
amenities

- Limited public service support including GP, emergency services, Schools and Police
- Change of use from family home, when housing is already in short supply (as
demonstrated by the allocations required in SKDC Local Plan now being reviewed)’

Lincolnshire Police Crime Prevention Design Adviser
No objections.

Conservation Officer

No objections.

‘OA School Lane is situated in the village of Colsterworth to the west of High Street. The
application site is bordered by 4 Spring Lane, a Grade Il listed building (NHLE 1147318)
and is situated within 1500 metres of Easton Park a Grade Il Registered Park & Garden
(NHLE 1000976). No. 9A is a non-designated heritage asset as part of the Former School
(MLI 126720). Previously this building was joined with No. 9 in an L-plan form. A section
was demolished to create two detached houses. The Old School Masters House is located
to the rear of the buildings.

It is proposed to change the use of the existing dwelling from Use Class C3 (Dwellinghouse)
to Use Class C2 (flexible under Part 3 Class V of GPDO) as a childrens care home.

The proposal does not change the footprint of the plot and therefore will have no impact on
the non-designated heritage asset, 4 Spring Lane or the setting of Easton Park.

Overall, I have no concerns with the proposal on heritage grounds’.
Lincolnshire County Council Senior Commissioning Officer

No comments received.

28



5.1

Representations as a Result of Publicity

The application has been advertised in accordance with the Council's Statement of
Community Involvement and 32 letters of representation (as of 22/04/25) have been
received, raising objection to the development. The letters of representation have raised the
following material planning considerations:

e Concerns expressed about possibility of future expansion of the care home to house
more children

e No barriers are proposed to the site and concern that children could leave the site

e Loss of family home to commercial property

e School Lane is a steep narrow lane, with partial pavement. Icy conditions make it
impassible

e Children pass the site to school and this would increase traffic to the site

e The access driveway is steep and limited visibility — may lead to vehicles reversing
off the driveway

e Parking is limited onsite and could not accommodate 5 vehicles

e Site is next to a watercourse

e Children will have complex needs, and a village is not a suitable location

e Vehicle traffic to/from the site will increase as a result of the development and be
more than a normal family house

e Concern about increase in disturbance to neighbouring properties from car engines,
headlights, car doors, and voices.

e There are no village amenities for children. The village only has two small food shops
and a public house.

e Concerns about additional demands on local service providers.

e Loss of privacy from overlooking of adjacent properties

e Concerns about shift changeover; congestion and noise. Shift changeover may
impact children walking along School Lane

e There will be visits by health care professionals, Ofsted, tutoring, laundry, cleaning
and family, and there is insufficient parking on-site

e Junction onto High Street has poor visibility

e When the Al is blocked vehicles divert through Colsterworth causing problems for
staff.

e School Lane is not gritted in the winter months, and can flood and becomes
impassible

e Vehicles have already increased on School Lane due to deliveries and tourism

e Care homes may have more call outs for emergency services

e The church graveyard access is opposite the site, and people park on School Lane

e No security or soundproofing proposed

e Introduces commercial business on a road that is residential

e There is a public footpath at the bottom of the lane to the village hall/social club and
this will be impacted by the increase in traffic

e Should be cited in a town where they have facilities available to help and support

e Colsterworth doesn’t have a recreational centre, or secondary school for older
children

29



Will increase vehicle movements early morning and late evening hours

Vehicle movements per day appear to be underestimated

Impact on the surrounding wildlife from increase in vehicle movements

The site is a distance from emergency services for when they are required

Parking Plan only shows 3 usable spaces. The other two spaces would require
excessive movements to access. This would be dangerous to children

Parking for only staff, the manager and occasional visitor is unrealistic

Parking on School Lane causes issues for refuse and deliveries as the vehicles
cannot pass

School Lane is an emergency access for the Brunel Avenue estate

The Church doesn’t have parking off-street so visitors use School Lane

The Church and graveyard are located close to the site and may prove unsuitable
attraction to the children. Opportunity for theft and vandalism.

Flood Map for Planning shows the site is within flood zone 3

The properties on School Lane are visited by bats, foxes, squirrels, owls, swallows,
deer and hedgehogs. These will be impacted by light and noise pollution.

The change of use will change the appearance of the house, and it is in an area of
listed and significantly important buildings for the village.

The church bells chime every hour, twenty-four hours a day.

A further care home is not needed in the village as Colsterworth already has a care
home facility for adults with special needs

Congestion on School Lane

Noise pollution from the children e.g. shouting and swearing, and increased vehicles
The property will need security lights and this will disturb residents

Pedestrian access to the property is up a set of steep steps, and could be problematic
if there are mobility issues

There is little difference on the floorplans, and there doesn’t appear to be an office.
The upper floor has insufficient toilets and bathrooms so they will need to be shared.
Children should be homed near to family and friends, in familiar locations

Street lighting and the condition of pavement is poor

Children could be attracted to the flood waters during a flood event

The property is of local and historic interest

Children could be attracted to the A1 which is dangerous

Risk to neighbours from children’s undesirable visitors

The plan does not show a safe outside activity area

Vehicles will not be able to arrive and leave in a forward gear as the driveway turning
circle is too small.

Measurements of the parking are not provided.

Site borders a Grade 2 listed building

Risk of crime and disorder

Lack of detail contained in the application form about intended changes e.g. widening
the driveway, fencing, security lighting, removal of trees and shrubs, commercial
refuse, CCTV, fire safety.

No ecology survey has been provided

The application does not comply with the legal publicity requirements

Application inaccuracies.

30



6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4
6.5

6.6

6.7

6.8

6.9

Evaluation

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the Local
Planning Authority makes decisions in accordance with the adopted Development Plan,
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In this case, the adopted Development
Plan consists of the following documents:

e South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (Adopted 30 January 2020)
e Colsterworth and District Neighbourhood Plan (Made September 2017)

The Local Planning Authority have also adopted a Design Guidelines Supplementary
Planning Document (SPD) (Adopted November 2021) and this document is a material
consideration in the determination of planning applications.

In addition, the policies and provisions set out in the National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF) (“the Framework”) (Updated December 2024) are also a relevant material
consideration in the determination of planning applications.

Principle of Development

The proposal relates to a proposed change of use from a residential dwelling house to a
small residential children’s home for two children.

Policy SP2 (Settlement Hierarchy) identifies Colsterworth as one of the Larger Villages
where ‘development proposals which promote the role and function of the Larger Villages,
and will not compromise the settlement’s nature and character, will be supported’.

The principle of development for the residential use in this location is established with the
current dwelling house, and considered under Policy SP3 for Infill development, however
this will be a change of use within residential use classes. It is considered that the proposed
use of the dwelling for a small residential children's home, providing accommodation for two
children, would be of a limited scale and appearance to the existing use. The application
site has sufficient amenity space for off-street parking of 5 vehicles and garden space for
the children residing in the house. It is likely to have no greater level of impact than the
existing residential use of the site in sustainability and amenity terms. The location of the
site is considered appropriate as it is situated in an existing residential area, with access to
local services and amenities, and this use would be similar in character to the surrounding
use.

Furthermore, Policy H4 (Meeting all Housing Needs) states that new housing proposals
shall (a) enable older people and the most vulnerable to promote, secure and sustain their
independence in a home appropriate to their circumstances, including through the provision
of specialist housing across all tenures in sustainable locations. New housing proposals
shall take account of the desirability of providing retirement accommodation, extra care and
residential care housing and other forms of supported housing.

Colsterworth and District Neighbourhood Plan Policy 1 (Residential Development) states
that residential development will be supported providing that:

a) ‘ltis acceptable infill of up to 10 dwellings that are located within the existing confines of
the built-up area,;

31



6.10

6.11

6.12

b) Itis appropriate to its surroundings;

c) lItisinkeeping with the Review of the Built Environment of Colsterworth and Woolsthorpe
with regards to scale, layout and materials to retain local distinctiveness and create a
sense of place;

d) There is no adverse impact to the Woolsthorpe Conservation Area and the setting of
Woolsthorpe Manor;

e) Itencourages the use of existing network of public footpaths to enable access to services
and facilities’

The proposed development would be appropriate infill residential development within the
village confines, and is a suitable change of use within a residential area. The application
site is outside of the Conservation Area and would be an appropriate scale for the location.
The site is well connected to the village services with pedestrian footways, and a public
footpath in proximity.

Lincolnshire County Council has produced a Children in Care Sufficiency Strategy 2023-
2027 which details Lincolnshire’s position in terms of children in care. The population of
children in care has increased by 10.5% since 2018, and the council is keen to secure high
guality placements. The county council is increasing its number of in-house residential
children’s homes but there is still the requirement for placements in independent children’s
homes. The county council aims to place children and young people close to home but in
2023 53% of independent residential care placements were not in Lincolnshire or adjacent
counties, therefore there is a strong local need for children’s care homes within the county.

The Parish Council has raised concerns about whether Colsterworth is suitable for children
due to the lack of activities and amenities, and limited public service support. The concerns
have been considered however Colsterworth is a Larger Village in the Local Plan, and
considered an appropriate location for the provision of a care home. The village has several
amenities including a church, public house, primary school, medical practice, and two
convenience stores. The village is located in proximity to the market towns of Grantham and
Stamford for wider service provision. There are two children’s play areas within walking
distance of the site. The first is situated off Old Post Lane, adjacent to the Sports Club, and
has play equipment, and the second is off Colster Way with play equipment and a football
area as well as informal open space.

The Parish Council also raised concerns about the loss of a family home. The proposal is
for a change of use within Class C. This use class includes hotels, residential institutions,
dwelling houses and small shared houses (HMO), and are acknowledged to be residential
use classes. The application includes reference to flexible use under Class V, therefore the
use could be returned to a residential dwelling house during the 10 year period. The
concerns have been considered and the planning officer believes that the proposal would
meet housing needs for small children’s care homes and this would outweigh the loss of the
family home, by providing another necessary housing type in a Larger Village.

The proposal would provide an element of specialist housing to benefit the most vulnerable
people living in the district. The house is in a sustainable location, and would require little
alteration to accommodate the change of use. The proposal is considered to be acceptable
in principle and in accordance with Policy SD1 (The Principles of Sustainable Development
in South Kesteven) and H4 (Meeting all Housing Needs) of the adopted Local Plan, and
Neighbourhood Plan Policy 1, subject to assessment against site specific criteria.

32



6.13
6.14

6.15

6.16

6.17

6.18

Impact on the character and appearance of the area

The site is located in proximity to several listed buildings, with no.4 Spring Lane a Grade 2
listed building adjacent to the site. The site is also situated within 1500 metres of Easton
Park and Grade 2 registered park and garden. No.9A is a non-designated heritage asset as
it was previously part of no.9, a former school.

Neighbourhood Plan Policy 7 (Heritage Assets) states that development will be supported
providing that:

a) It preserves or enhances designated heritage assets and their settings including listed
buildings and Historic Parkland, the Woolsthorpe Conservation Area, scheduled
monuments and other desighated and non-designated heritage assets above and below
ground;

b) its impact and contribution to local distinctiveness, character and sense of place is
acceptable;

c) it has regard to the Colsterworth and District Landscape Character Assessment and the
Review of the Built Environment of Colsterworth and Woolsthorpe; and

d) it does not harm the setting of Woolsthorpe Manor or any significant views to or from the
property.

The application relates to a non-designated heritage asset in proximity to several listed
buildings, and an existing residential dwelling house in a residential area of Colsterworth.
The numbers of people living in the house would be not materially different from a family
with children. The house is four bedrooms with shared space on the ground floor in the form
a living room, kitchen, dining room, utility room and downstairs toilet. This would be
unaltered by the change of use. The first floor currently has four bedrooms, dressing room
/ study, a bathroom and ensuite. This would be unaltered, however the children would each
have a bedroom, and the staff would use the remaining two bedrooms for overnight.
Therefore, the house would require little alteration to accommodate the change of use which
is mainly internal, and it is not proposed to extend the dwelling into outside amenity space,
and the use would have no adverse impact on the character of the area.

There have been representations from members of the public concerned with potential
alterations to the exterior of the house e.g. CCTV, and to the site e.g. removal of trees,
fencing, alterations to the driveway. The representations have been considered however
the applicant has not provided details of any proposed alterations to the house or site which
are necessary to facilitate the development proposal, and the described alterations are such
that would not require permission as no.9A is not a listed building or located within the
Conservation Area.

There have also been representations from members of the public regarding the potential
impact on the neighbouring listed buildings and character of the area. The SKDC
Conservation Officer was consulted and had no objections to the proposal. The officer
commented that ‘The proposal does not change the footprint of the plot and therefore will
have no impact on the non-designated heritage asset, 4 Spring Lane or the setting of Easton
Park’. The Conservation Officer concluded that there were ‘no concerns with the proposal
on heritage grounds’.

33



6.19

6.20
6.21

6.22

6.23

6.24

6.25

By virtue of the scale and minimal alterations required, the proposal would be in keeping
with the streetscene and surrounding context in accordance with Policy DE1 and ENG of the
Local Plan, Neighbourhood Plan Policy 7, and Section 12 and 16 of the NPPF.

Impact on the neighbours' residential amenities

The application site is a 2-storey detached dwelling with amenity space to the front, side
and rear. There are neighbouring residential properties to the northwest, east, and south.

The application includes a Covering Letter, and this details that the site would be used as a
care home providing care, education and therapeutic support to young people from diverse
backgrounds who have encountered a range of adverse experiences. The home would be
for two children aged between 6 and 17 years old. The numbers of staff would be determined
by the children’s needs, there would be 2-3 members of staff on duty at all times working on
a rota basis of 2 days on and 4 days off. A manager would be onsite Mondays to Fridays
between 9am and 5.30pm. During the week the children would be at local schools during
the day. There would be 3-4 vehicles parked onsite, and staff changeover would take place
every 48 hours.

There have been representations from members of the public regarding the potential impact
on residential amenity. It is considered that will the use of the house would be similar to a
4-bedroom family house, which could accommodate 5-6 people including children. A family
would have a similar pattern of arrivals and departures on a typical day with parents
commuting to/from work/leisure/retail, children being taken to/from education settings, and
have a similar number of vehicles parked onsite, dependent on the age of those inhabiting
the dwelling house. It is considered that a residential dwelling house would receive visitors
and deliveries, and there would not be a significant change in the character of the activities
from the use as a family home that would result in an impact on the use of the land and
buildings.

In a recent Appeal Decision ref. APP/E2530/X/24/3354568 at Main Street, Hougham, the
Planning Inspector came to the conclusion that a proposed change of use of a private
dwelling Use Class C3 to a children’s care home Use Class C2 for 2 children, would not as
a matter of fact and degree be a material change of use. The Inspector noted that in this
case the children’s home would be managed ‘as if it were a family home in all respects apart
form the presence of staff carers’ and the appellants maintained that ‘the use would not be
materially different to the use of this house by a typical family household’. The Inspector
agreed that the use of the house as a large family home ‘would create a variety of traffic
movements and a substantial demand for parking facilities’ but did not

‘envisage that the use as a children’s home would make a significant difference to the effect
that a typical family household’s use had on the level of activity, trip generation and overall
comings and goings. The role of the carers would not be significantly different to that of
parents looking after children in a family home and taking them to school or on trips out'.

The Inspector considered that ‘A typical family household here could have several car
drivers and separate travel patterns associated with each individual’'s education, work and
leisure’.

The proposal does not involve the enlargement of the existing building, and will require little
alteration other than internal, so the levels of overlooking and privacy will remain as existing,
and there will be no encroachment in terms of loss of light. There were concerns raised

34



6.26

6.27

6.28

6.29
6.30

6.31

6.32

6.33

6.34
6.35

6.36

6.37

6.38

regarding noise, however, it is not considered that the proposed use would differ materially
from the existing use as a residential dwelling house with children inhabiting the house.

In terms of the future resident’'s amenity, the amenity space to the dwelling will remain the
same as existing, and provide sufficient private amenity space for the care home use and
two children.

Similar to other recently permitted children’s care homes, it is considered that it is
reasonable and necessary to restrict the use as a children’s home and for two children to
define the permission and allow any future assessment of alternative uses that would
otherwise be permitted within the C2 use class.

Taking into account the nature of the proposal and adequate separation distances, it is
considered that there would be no unacceptable adverse impact on the residential amenities
of the occupiers of adjacent properties in accordance with the NPPF Section 12, and Policy
DE1 of the Local Plan.

Ecology and Trees

The site currently comprises of an existing dwelling house and its garden e.g. trees, grass,
shrubs. The proposed use of the site as a small children’s care home would have the
existing arrangement of private amenity space and the driveway with onsite parking.

The application is for a change of use from residential dwelling house to children’s care
home and does not involve the enlargement of the existing building. In reference to the
Biodiversity Net Gain requirements, the development does not impact a priority habitat and
impacts less than 25 sqm of non-priority onsite habitat, and is therefore exempt from BNG.

There have been numerous representations from members of the public regarding the
potential impact on ecology and trees. The application has not been accompanied by
ecology or tree information, and there are a number of trees on the site, but there are no
tree preservation orders in place. The proposal would require little alteration to the site, and
it is not proposed to extend the dwelling into outside amenity space.

To summarise, the proposal would be in accordance with Policy EN2 and EN3 of the Local
Plan, and section 15 of the NPPF.

Flood Risk

Policy SD1 sets out the criteria for new development to ensure it is sustainable. Local Plan
Policy EN5 (Water Environment and Flood Risk Management) together with Section 14 of
the NPPF seeks to direct development to areas with the least probability of flooding, together
with implementation of SUDs drainage where possible, in order to minimise surface water
runoff.

Section 14, para 159 of the NPPF states that inappropriate development in areas of flooding
should be avoided by directing development away from areas of highest risk.

The boundary of the site includes areas within Flood Zone 1 and Flood Zone 2, according
to the Environment Agency maps with a low and medium probability of flooding from rivers
and the sea. The dwelling house is located within Flood Zone 1 with a low probability of
flooding from rivers and the sea.

The application was accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment Note which confirms the
location of the existing dwelling house in Flood Zone 1 and an area of the site partially within

35



6.39

6.40

6.41

6.42

6.43

6.44
6.45

6.46

6.47

6.48

Flood Zone 2. This is the northwestern corner of the site and driveway access. There are
no proposed changes to the layout of the driveway or access.

Should a flood event occur the existing building is raised higher than School Lane, and the
pedestrian access located to the northeast of the site would provide an evacuation route.

The Environment Agency was consulted on the development and the response was that the
EA did not wish to make any comments on the application as the proposed change of use
is located in Flood Zone 1. The EA commented that ‘Furthermore, as the proposal is a
change of use from a more vulnerable use (dwellinghouse) to a more vulnerable use
(children’s home) and therefore does not propose an increase in risk to people, we do not
wish to object to the application’.

The Parish Council has commented on the application regarding the proximity of the site to
a watercourse and flood risk. The EA and Flood Risk Assessment Note has confirmed that
the site is predominantly in Flood Zone 1 and proposed mitigation for evacuation from the
pedestrian access.

The case officer notes the concerns raised by neighbours in response to consultation
regarding the presence of a watercourse adjacent to the site and recent flood events,
however, the Environment Agency has no objection to the proposed development. The case
officer considers that a condition to require the mitigation for flood events is reasonable and
necessary and have therefore recommended the attachment of such a condition, and would
suitably address flood risk on the application site.

With the above condition in place the proposal is in accordance with Local Plan Policy EN5,
and Section 14 of the NPPF.

Highway issues

The site is located in the village of Colsterworth. Colsterworth is a larger village, and has
several amenities including a church, public house, primary school, medical practice, and
two convenience stores. There are local bus services providing access to Grantham and
Stamford.

The site is located in proximity to public right of way, located on the western boundary of the
site adjacent to the River Witham. The site is currently partially screened by boundary trees
and hedge on this boundary.

The planning submission includes a Transport Note, Parking Plan and Swept Path analysis.
The Transport Note confirms the development location and proposal, and that no works are
proposed to the building, site or access as part of the proposal. The staffing proposed would
be 2 care staff with potential for a third, and a home manager. The site would be staffed on
a two day on, four day off shift pattern. The two staff would arrive at 8am and the two
previous staff would depart at 8.30am. The manager would arrive at 9am and depart at 5pm.
Visitors would visit during the day and not at shift changeover. The worst case at shift
changeover there would be 5 members of staff parked onsite in the 5 parking spaces. The
Parking Plan confirms the proposed parking layout onsite and the Swept Path analysis
confirms that the spaces can be utilised and vehicles can turn onsite to arrive and depart in
a forward gear.

Lincolnshire County Council have commented on the application as highway and lead local
flood authority and have raised no objection to the proposal. They have confirmed that the
development proposes to utilise the existing access and includes off-street parking for 5

36



6.49

6.50

6.51

6.52

6.53

6.54
6.55

6.56

vehicles. The access meets the guidance as set out in Manual for Streets, and the highways
officer considers the 5 parking spaces is an appropriate level of parking. The local highway
authority notes that there are existing problems on School Lane but that the proposed trip
demand of 14 vehicles per day would not require highway improvements. Furthermore, the
highways officer does not consider that the development would result in a severe impact on
the local highway network.

The Parish Council has raised concerns about the historical nature of the lane, including its
narrow width, as well as the impact of adverse weather conditions. They have raised
concerns regarding the junction of School Lane and the High Street. The Parish Council has
also noted Paragraph 117 of the NPPF, particularly pedestrian and cycle access. Paragraph
117 of the NPPF states that

‘application for development should:

a) give priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements, both within the scheme and with
neighbouring areas; and second — so far as possible — to facilitating access to high quality
public transport, with layouts that maximise the catchment area for bus or other public
transport services, and appropriate facilities that encourage public transport use...’

There have been representations from members of the public regarding the potential impact
on transport and highway issues including concerns about the proposed trip generations
being low, insufficient parking onsite, waste collection/deliveries, children walking to school,
and existing issues on School Lane and the junction with the High Street.

The case officer notes the concerns raised by the Parish Council and neighbours in
response to consultation however, the local highways authority has no objection to the
development proposal. The local highways authority was invited to provide further
comments following the Parish Council representation and the highways officer responded
that ‘Our comments remain unchanged and nothing further to add’.

The case officer considers that a condition to require improvements to pedestrian and cycle
movements in reference to the Parish Council’s representation and Paragraph 117 of the
NPPF, would not be reasonable and necessary. There is existing pedestrian footway
provision on School Lane, and School Lane is utilised by pedestrians and cyclists currently
providing connections to the village services, and this has not been highlighted by the local
highway authority for improvements.

The proposal would result in adequate access, parking and turning facilities and would not
have an unacceptable adverse impact on highway safety in accordance with Policy ID2 of
the Local Plan and the NPPF Section 9.

Other Matters

Application Form — The application form contained inaccuracies (proximity to a watercourse,
flood risk, foul sewage disposal) which were highlighted to the Applicants Agent, and the
application form was amended to correct the inaccuracies. There were no inaccuracies
related to the BNG section of the planning application, and this has been addressed above.

Publicity requirements - The application has been fully advertised in accordance with the
Statement of Community Involvement including statutory consultee consultation, press
notice, neighbour letters, and display of a site notice.

37



6.57

6.58

8.2

9.1

10

Recruitment — There is no restriction on recruitment taking place in advance of a planning
decision as recruitment is outside of the definition of ‘work’ prior to commencement. The
care home would not be able to operate without planning permission being granted.

Waste Collection — Waste would be collected by a commercial waste operator, should
planning permission be granted.

Crime and Disorder

It is considered that the proposal would not result in any significant crime and disorder
implications.

Human Rights Implications

Articles 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and home)
of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this recommendation.

It is considered that no relevant Article of that act will be breached.

Conclusion

Taking the above into account, it is considered that the proposed use will have no
detrimental impact on the dwelling house, or the character of the area as the dwelling will
retain aresidential appearance, and would not have a detrimental impact on the surrounding
highway network as the care home will continue to operate in a similar manner in terms of
vehicle trip generation to a residential dwelling house. The proposed development is
therefore in accordance with Local Plan Policies SP1, SP2, SP3, H4, DE1 and ID2,
Colsterworth and District Neighbourhood Plan Policy 1 and Policy 7, and Sections 9 and 12
of the NPPF.

Recommendation

To authorise the Assistant Director of Planning & Growth to GRANT planning permission,
subject to the following conditions.

38



Planning Conditions

Time Limit for Commencement

1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of three years
from the date of this permission.

Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in
Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Approved Plans

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following list
of approved plans:

i. Site Location Plan, drawing ref. ESLA1057-DMW-SLP-001 A (received 04/02/25)

ii. Proposed Block Plan, drawing ref. ESLA1057-DMW-PBP-001 A (received 27/02/25)
iii. Parking Plan, drawing ref. ITB200804-GA-001 A (received 04/02/25)

iv. Proposed Elevations, drawing ref. 106778 (received 27/02/25)

v. Proposed Floor Plans: Ground, drawing ref. 106778 (received 27/02/25)

vi. Proposed Floor Plans: First, drawing ref. 106778 (received 27/02/25)

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.

Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.

No other use within Use Class C2

3) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987
(or any order revoking and re-enacting that order with or without modification) the premises
shall be used only as a children's care home for up to two children and for no other purpose
(including any other use falling within Class C2 of the Order).

Reason: To ensure that the development operates as assessed.

39



BLOCK PLAN EXISTING

SCHOOL\LANE M

40



BLOCK PLAN PROPOSED

S¥PE1800000V SO "SZ0Z S1ybu eseqelep pue Jybukdoo umaid @

yoinyy

ANV ._OOIOm

41



FLOOR PLANS EXISTING

[ 1214 (6.50m)

Ground Floor

11'10" (3.61m)

233" (7.09m)

11'11" (3.63m)

Bedroom 4
11'11" (3.63m)

, | 93" (2.82m)

First Floor

42

173" (5.26m)




FLOOR PLANS PROPOSED

93" (2.82m)

[] 214" (6.50m)

233" (7.09m)

————— 4 b - [R— ] | Sppep— . -l | Sppe— - | S— T S
g £ S _
Bedoom2 g Bedroom3  ={ WDressing Room < 5
5 o i s
5 =3 =3 3
T 105" (3.23m) — 82" (240m) “Il \\ocier Bedroom
11'11" (3.63m) -
17'3" (5.26m)
Landing
3
o~
&
o~
~| Bedroom4 O .
. Ensuite
&| 111" (3.63m) O] satvoom
T — - - — - ' - L
First Floor

43



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 4b

SOUTH Planning Committee
KESTEVEN 8 May 2025

DISTRICT

COUNCIL

S24/2191
Proposal: Installation of solar farm with associated battery storage, comprising
ground mounted solar photovoltaic panels, including mounting systems,
inverters and transformers, electrical substation, underground cabling,
stock proof fencing, CCTV, internal access tracks and associated
infrastructure for a temporary period of 40 years
Location: Land adjacent to Spalding Road, Bourne, Lincolnshire
Applicant Downing Renewable Developments LLP
Application Type: Full Planning Permission (Major)
Reason for Referral to | Called in by Councillor Zoe Lane citing the following considerations:
Committee: e Impact on the open countryside
Key Issues: Effect of the proposal on agricultural land

Effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area
Effect of the proposal on biodiversity and ecology
Flood Risk and Drainage

Technical Documents: | e Agricultural Land Classification Report
Arboricultural Impact Assessment
Construction Traffic Management Plan
Consultation Report

Cultural Heritage Impact Assessment

Design and Access Statement

Ecological Assessment

Flood Risk and Drainage Scheme

Glint and Glare Assessment

Land Use and Agricultural Land Statement
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment
Noise Impact Assessment

Planning Statement

Site Selection Report

Report Author

Adam Murray — Principal Development Management Planner
E 01476 406080

X% Adam.Murray@southkesteven.gov.uk

45


http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1

Corporate Priority: Decision type:

Growth ‘ Regulatory ’ Bourne East

Reviewed by: Phil Jordan, Development Management &
Enforcement Manager
Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

To authorise the Assistant Director — Planning & Growth to GRANT planning permission,
subject to conditions.

29 April 2025

46



S24/2191 - Land adjacent Spalding Road, Bourne

DO NOT SCALE PAGE

SCALE 1:10000

a7



1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

2

Description of the site

The application site consists of an area of 34.6 hectares (85.49 acres) of broadly rectangular
land located to the north of the A151 (Spalding Road) and situated approximately 3.5km to
the east of the main built-up area of Bourne. The site is generally flat and comprises of two
fields of arable agricultural land.

The red line site boundary is bound on all sides by further, retained agricultural land.
However, it is appreciated that a short distance (circa 0.5km to the southwest of the
application site lies an existing 4.6MW solar farm, granted planning permission under LPA
Ref: S11/0431). There are existing overhead electrical lines running northeast to southwest
through the application site. The site boundaries are broadly undefined by physical features
in this instance.

As indicated above, the site lies outside of the main built-up area of a defined settlement
and therefore falls to be defined as being located within the Open Countryside. The site is
also identified as being within Flood Zone 3 of the Flood Map for Planning and also includes
areas of medium risk of surface water flooding. Furthermore, the Natural England
Provisional Agricultural Land Classification Maps identify the land as being Grade 2
agricultural land value; a detailed Agricultural Land Classification Survey has been
completed as part of the application submission and this is discussed in further detail below.

The site is not subject to any statutory landscape designations. However, the site is located
within the Fens Landscape Character Area (South Kesteven Landscape Character
Assessment, 2007), which is defined by large scale open rectangular fields divided by
drainage ditches and embanked rivers, with sparse tree and woodland cover.

The proposed development site is not subject to any other planning policy designations and
it is not crossed by any public rights of way.

The proposed development has not been the subject of any previous planning applications.
However, the application proposals have been the subject of an Environmental Impact
Assessment [EIA] Screening Opinion (LPA Ref: S22/1432) in July 2022, which concluded
that the proposed development was not defined as being EIA development, and therefore,
the current application was not required to be accompanied by an Environmental Statement.

In respect of potential cumulative effects, it is appreciated that the current application is one
of four solar proposals on the eastern side of Bourne. The current status of these proposals
are as follows:

e LPA Ref: S11/0431 — Limes Farm — approximately 0/5km to the south-west of the
current application site. Operational 4.6MW solar farm granted planning permission
in 2011.

e LPA Ref: S24/2100 — Home Farm — approximately 1.2km to the northwest of the
current application site. Proposed 28MW solar farm. Approved Conditionally in March
2025.

e Northorpe Fen Farm — located approximately 3.7km to the south of the current
application site. EIA Screening Opinion issued in April 2024. No application has been
submitted to date.

Description of the proposal

48



2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

The current application seeks full planning permission for the installation of a solar farm with
associated battery storage, comprising ground mounted solar photovoltaic panels, including
mounting systems, inverters, transformers, electrical substation, underground cabling, stock
proof fencing, CCTV internal access tracks and associated infrastructure for a temporary
period of 40 years.

The proposed development is anticipated to have an energy export capacity of up to 20
megawatts (MW) and would be operational for a temporary 40 year period, with all
equipment removed from the site at the end of the operational period, and the land
subsequently returned to its current agricultural use. The application states that the solar
farm would provide a reduction of approximately 9.250 tonnes of CO2 per annum.

The application submission has been accompanied by a series of Proposed Plans and
Elevations, as well as detailed technical assessments, which indicate that the development
would consist of the following:

e Ground mounted solar array — panels based on a metal mounting structure to form
an array, which would be pile driven into the ground. The panels would be tilted at an
angle in the range of 15 to 25 degrees and orientated due south and will remain in a
fixed position.

e Battery and Substation Storage Compound — the battery energy storage system
(BESS) would be located centrally within the site and would consist of 8 battery units,
together with 4 inverter stations, 1 spare parts contain and 1 customer substation.
The BESS units would be 12.2m in length, 2.5m wide and 3m in height

e Boundary Fencing — deer fencing, comprising of wooden posts and wire mesh
fencing approximately 2km in height. The on-site substation would be bound by metal
palisade fencing approximately 3m in height. The BESS compound would be bound
by weldmesh fencing which would be 2.5m in height.

e CCTV system — the CCTV system is to be pole or fence mounted around the
perimeter of the site at a maximum height of 3.5m

e Water Tank for the Battery Energy Storage System (BESS) — the proposed water
tank would have capacity for 235,000 litres

e Upgrade of site access and internal access tracks to connect the site.

The proposed development would connect to the National Gride via the 33kV overhead line
that crosses the site and runs between Bourne Substation and Dowsby Fen Substation.
Formal connection is to be delivered by the Distribution Network Operator (DNO) using
permitted development rights, but the substation facilitating the connection forms part of the
current application.

Access to the site is proposed to be taken via the existing agricultural access from Spalding
Road (A151), which is currently a field gate entry with dirt track. The access is proposed to
be used for the construction of the proposed development, as well as during the operational
period.

The application submission has also been accompanied by a Proposed Landscape
Mitigation Plan, which indicates that 5,304 sq. metres of hew hedgerow would be planted,
32 new boundary trees would be planted, and 27,254 sq. metres of native wildflower mix
grassland would be planted.

49



3

Relevant History

Application Ref | Description of Development Decision

S24/1432 Request for an EIA Screening Opinion for a solar | EIA Not Required

farm with battery energy storage scheme 13.09.2022

4.2

4.3

4.4
4.5

5.1
5.1.1
5.2
5.2.1
522

Policy Considerations

South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (Adopted January 2020)
Policy SD1 — The Principles of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven
Policy SP1 — Spatial Strategy

Policy SP5 — Development in the Open Countryside

Policy EN1 — Landscape Character

Policy EN2 — Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity
Policy EN4 — Pollution Control

Policy EN5 — Water Environment and Flood Risk Management

Policy EN6 — The Historic Environment

Policy DE1 — Promoting Good Quality Design

Policy RE1 — Renewable Energy Generation

Policy ID1 — Infrastructure for Growth

Policy ID2 — Transport and Strategic Transport Infrastructure

Local Plan Appendix 3 — Renewable Energy

Design Guidelines for Rutland and South Kesteven Supplementary Planning
Document (Adopted November 2021)

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (Published December 2024)
Section 2 — Achieving sustainable development

Section 4 — Decision-making

Section 9 — Promoting sustainable transport

Section 11 — Making effective use of land

Section 12 — Achieving well-designed places

Section 14 — Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Section 15 — Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

Section 16 — Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

National Policy Statement for Energy (EN1) (Published November 2023)

National Policy Statement for Renewable Energy (EN3) (Published November 2023)
Representations Received

Black Sluice Internal Drainage Board

No objections.

Bourne Civic Society

Objection

The use of greenfield land for solar power is unnecessary as this should be installed on
industrial premises.

50




5.3
5.3.1
5.3.2
5.4
5.4.1
5.5
5.5.1
5.6
5.6.1

5.7
5.7.1
5.7.2

5.7.3

5.8
5.8.1
5.8.2

5.8.3

5.8.4

Bourne Town Council

Objection.

The land proposed is the best and most versatile agricultural land (Grade 3 and Grade 3A).
Civil Aviation Authority

No comments received.

Defence Infrastructure Organisation

No comments to make.

Environment Agency

No objection subject to conditions requiring compliance with the flood risk assessment and
drainage strategy, and the submission of a surface water management plan to deal with
potential fire events at the BESS.

Heritage Lincolnshire
No objection subject to conditions.

The site for the proposed development lies in an area of archaeological interest within the
fen where evidence of Iron Age and Roman settlement including salt-making has been
recorded. To the west of the site is the line of a Roman canal and finds of the period have
been found in the vicinity. To the northeast of the proposal evidence of finds indicating
evidence of Iron Age salt-making and a Romano-British field system has been recorded. A
Romano-British settlement site dating from the late first to early third century is recorded,
also to the northeast, together with evidence of Roman salt making and prehistoric finds. To
east of the proposal finds indicating the presence of Iron Age salterns have been recorded.
A Cultural Heritage Impact Assessment accompanied by an archaeological geophysical
survey has been submitted in support of the application. The results of the geophysical
survey were negative.

We recommend that an archaeological mitigation strategy is imposed as a condition of any
planning permission which may be forthcoming. The mitigation strategy should be submitted
to and agreed by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of development.

Lincolnshire County Council (Highways and SuDS)
No objection subject to conditions.

The proposed solar farm and BESS will be access from one point on the A151. This is
suitable for HGVs and currently serves farming, no new junctions from the public road
network will be required.

The access track is to be improved with the implementation of hardcore and an improvement
to the bellmouth. This is demonstrated in the submitted Construction Traffic Management
Plan.

The EA Flood Map shows the application site is located within Flood Zone 3. The outline
drainage strategy will consist of an underground piped system connecting to an attenuation
structure (likely to be a detention basin or SuDS pond) outside the BESS compound. It is
proposed to construct three soakaways/infiltration drains within the application site. The
location of the soakaways has been chosen on the downward slope from the inverters. The
intent is to use infiltration drainage, however, should infiltration drainage not be suitable the

51



5.9
5.9.1
5.9.2

5.9.3

5.10
5.10.1
5.11
5111
5.12
5.12.1
5.13
5.13.1
5.13.2

5.13.3

5.14
5.14.1

5.15
5.15.1

discharge point will be into the drains that are on the field boundaries within the application
site.

Lincolnshire County Council (Planning Policy)
Objection.

The application fails to protect the best and most versatile agricultural land contrary to Policy
SP1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan (2020) and New Policy 2 of the draft Local
Plan (2024).

The land within the proposed development site is classified as either Grade 3 (31.95%),
Grade 3A (38.88%) or Grade 3B (29.17%) agricultural land. The proposal would result in a
loss of food production of 51 hectares of good quality and very good quality land (70.83%)
for 40 years.

Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue
No objections.

Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust
No comments received.
National Grid

No comments received.
Natural England

No objection.

From the description of the development this application is likely to affect 51ha of BMV
agricultural land. We consider that the proposed development, if temporary as described, is
unlikely to lead to significant permanent loss of BMV agricultural land, as a resource for
future generations. This is because the solar panels would be secured to the ground by
steel piles with limited soil disturbance and could be removed in the future with no
permanent loss of agricultural land quality likely to occur, provided the appropriate soil
management is employed and the development is undertaken to high standards.

A Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) Assessment has been carried out and ecological and
environmental works proposed as part of the project will result in a BNG of 130.93% in
habitats units and 33.33% in watercourse units which is above the statutory requirement.
We note the production of a Biodiversity Management Plan and a Landscape and Ecology
Management Plan.

Peterborough City Council

No objection in principle, subject to the consideration of the following matters:
e Implication of the visual impacts on Peterborough City Council
e Impacts on the local highway network; and
e The observations of the Lead Local Flood Authority.

SKDC Conservation Officer

No objections.

52



5.15.2

5.15.3

5.16
5.16.1
5.17
5.17.1

5.17.2

5.17.3

The provided Cultural Heritage Impact Assessment analysed the potential impact upon
heritage assets up to a 5km study area for Scheduled Monuments and designated heritage
assets. Given the distance of the heritage assets identified, it is unlikely that the proposed
development would result in an impact upon the setting of these heritage assets. There is
the potential that the site would, however, contribute to the cumulative setting impact upon
the heritage assets. At this stage, the solar farm is not considered to cause harm.

There are a number of non-designated heritage assets within close proximity to the site:
Lodge Farm (MLI122190), Chestnut Farm (MLI122201), Sycamore Farm (MLI122202),
Bottom Farm (MLI122203), Spinney Farm (MLI122204) and a unnamed farm (ML1122206).
Given the close proximity of the site to these upstanding heritage assets, there is the
likelihood that the solar farm will change the wider setting of these farmsteads, which do
derive their setting from the agricultural landscape. While in the assessment the impact is
noted to be negligible, it is considered that there will be at least a less than substantial harm
to the setting of Chestnut Farm, Sycamore Farm, Bottom Farm and the unnamed farm. This
could, however, be mitigated with a landscape strategy providing improved screening
towards these farmsteads. It is noted that some screening strategy has been considered. A
detailed plan locating the screening, and type of screening (type of planting e.g. hedgerow
or tree line, species) should be provided.

SKDC Environmental Protection
No objections.
South Holland District Council

The Proposed Development is located on greenfield land and is supported by an Agricultural
Land Classification report which demonstrates the Site forms of Grade 2 (13.5%), Grade 3a
(33.2%) and Grade 3b (53.3%) land, which qualifies 46.70% of the Council Offices Priory
Road Spalding Lincolnshire PE11 2XE land as ‘Best and Most Versatile’ (BMV) agricultural
land and 53.3% as Non-BMV agricultural land.

Due weight should be given to the loss of BMV land and whether or not the impact on the
District’'s food security outweighs the benefits of bringing forward a solar scheme in this
area, and whether or not there are more appropriate locations for such a development.

Consideration should be given to any cumulative impacts, including NSIPs and other solar
approvals in the vicinity.

Representations as a Result of Publicity

The application has been advertised in accordance with the Council’s Statement of
Community Involvement and letters of public representation have been received from 3
interested parties; all of whom have raised formal objections. The material considerations
raised within the representations can be summarised as follows:

(1) Impact of the development on agricultural land

e Object to the use of BMVAL
(2) Flood Risk and Drainage

e Object to the increase in surface water runoff due to the development
(3) Impact on residential amenity

e Loss of residential privacy during construction and operational periods

53



7.2

7.3

7.4
7.4.1

r.4.2

(4) Highways Safety
e Impact on highways safety due to increase in vehicular movements
(5) Noise
e Increase in noise from the development site
(6) Impact on biodiversity and ecology
e Insufficient consideration given to the existing features.
(7) Cumulative Impact

e Cumulative visual impact of the development together with Home Farm solar
scheme.

Evaluation

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the Local
Planning Authority makes decisions in accordance with the adopted Development Plan,
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The Council adopted the South Kesteven
Local Plan 2011-2036 on 30 January 2020, and this forms the Development Plan for the
District and is the basis for decision-making for the current application.

The Local Planning Authority have also adopted a Design Guidelines Supplementary
Planning Document (SPD) (Adopted November 2021), and this document is a material
consideration in the determination of planning applications.

The policies and provisions set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (“the
Framework”) (Published December 2024), and the National Policy Statements for Energy
(EN1) and Renewable Energy (EN3) are also a relevant material consideration in the
determination of applications.

Principle of Development / Effect of the proposals on climate change

The proposed development site is located outside of the main built-up area of an existing
settlement within the District, and therefore, falls to be defined as being located within the
Open Countryside. Policy SP5 (Development in the Countryside) limits development in such
locations to that which has an essential need to be located outside of the existing built form
of a settlement. This policy includes support for rural diversification project. The proposed
solar farm would be defined as a rural diversification project and, therefore, would be
acceptable within this countryside location.

The application proposals would have an energy export capacity of approximately 20MW
and includes a Battery Energy Storage System (BESS) that allows for the storage of excess
energy meaning energy can be exported when there is less or no sun using the excess
energy generated during the sunnier periods, to allow for a smoother delivery to the Grid.
The proposed development would make a positive contribution towards meeting the national
objectives in respect of energy generation and would also be consistent with the principles
of the adopted Local Plan, which supports renewable energy generation in principle, subject
to material considerations. It is also acknowledged that South Kesteven District Council has
formally declared a climate emergency, and has also published a Climate Change Strategy
(2023) which amongst other things seeks to maximise the opportunity for the District to
become more self-sufficient for energy and to reverse biodiversity loss and expand existing
habitats. It also recognises that the development of renewable energy at every level will be

54



7.4.3

important to drive local energy generation and provide a tangible contribution to national net
zero targets. These matters are material considerations that weigh in favour of the
application.

In assessing the application proposals against the specific policy obligations of Policy RE1
(Renewable Energy Generation) of the Local Plan:

(a) A detailed Agricultural Land Classification Assessment has been submitted as part

of the application and confirms that 4.5 ha (13.5%) of the site is Grade 2, 11.1 ha
(33.2%) of the site is Grade 3A and 17.8 ha (53.3%) of the site is Grade 3B. As
such, the proposed development would involve the use of approximately 16.6
hectares of BMVAL in total.

(b) The application submission has been accompanied by a Statement of Community

Involvement which provides a summary of the consultation undertaken by the
Applicant prior to the submission of the application. It is noted that representations
received from Bourne Town Council during the course of the consideration of the
application have raised formal objections and therefore it can be concluded that
the proposed development does not benefit from the express support of the
affected local community.

Notwithstanding this, it is noted that the Inspector’s decision for the Folkingham
solar development (LPA Ref: S23/0511) concluded that Policy RE1 does not make
any distinction between different types of renewable energy schemes and, in the
absence of Appendix 3 (Renewable Energy) of the adopted Local Plan making any
specific reference to requiring community support for solar proposals, there is no
firm basis for requiring such proposals to demonstrate the support of the local
community. In addition, national policy does not require solar development to
demonstrate the support of the local community and, therefore, it was concluded
that the imposition of such a requirement would be inconsistent with the
requirements of the Framework.

As such, whilst the application scheme does not benefit from the support of the
affected local communities, in light of the Folkingham appeal decision, it is
concluded that this does not constitute a conflict with Policy RE1(b).

(c) The application proposals have an energy export capacity of up to 20MW and this

limit is recommended to be secured by planning condition. Electricity generated
from the development would be transferred to the National Grid via the electrical
overhead lines which cross the site.

(d) The submitted Planning Statement confirms that permission is sought for a

temporary period of 40 years from the date of the first export of electricity to the
National Grid. The statement also confirms that the site would be decommissioned
at the end of the operational period. A condition requiring a decommissioning and
restoration strategy would ensure that the site is appropriately reinstated at the end
of its operational life.

(e) Other relevant local and national panning policies and the prospective impacts of

the development are discussed in further detail below.

7.4.4 Taking the above into account, it is Officer's assessment that the principle of renewable

energy generation is supported by Policy SD1, SP1 and RE1 of the adopted Local Plan,
subject to material considerations. These matters are discussed in further detail below.

55



7.5
7.5.1

7.5.2

7.5.3

7.5.4

7.5.5

7.5.6

Effect of the development on agricultural land

As outlined above, 13.5% of the site is Grade 2, 33.2% of the site is Grade 3A and 53.3%
of the site is Grade 3B. As such, the proposed development would involve the use of
approximately 16.1 hectares of BMVAL in total.

Policy SP1 requires a sequential approach to the development of BMVAL; with the use of
BMVAL requiring robust justification and evidence that there is insufficient lower grade
agricultural land capable of accommodating the development proposal. In this regard, the
application has been accompanied by a Site Selection Report, which outlines the following:

e Engagement with National Grid Energy Distribution (NGED) established that
connection to the electricity grid network for a combined solar farm and BESS
project was feasible off the 33kV overhead line that runs from Bourne Substation
to Dowsby Fen Substation.

e Due to the ‘tee-off nature of the connection, a site search with a maximum
distance of 0.5km from the OHL was necessary.

e The areas around the two substations were discounted due to their proximity to
urban and residential zones.

e Asolar development of the scale proposed (20MW) would require suitable access
for construction, operation and maintenance. Therefore, the preferential location
is to be near to suitable roads for access. A 1km buffer was made from the A151
and B1397, where the road buffer intersects the site selection area is a suitable
site area.

e The search process identified three suitable land parcels and following further
assets, a single area located within two of the three parcels was selected as the
application site.

Whilst the proposed development would result in the use of Grade 2 (Very Good) quality
agricultural land, the submitted assessment has adequately demonstrated that there are no
available sites within a suitable proximity of the grid connection point which are identified as
being Grade 3 or lower value land. Whilst it is possible that alternative sites may have a
lower proportion of BMVAL, it is acknowledged that it is not possible to confirm the
proportion of BMVAL without accessing private land to undertake intrusive soil
assessments. Appeal decisions have accepted that such an approach would be
disproportionate, impractical and unreasonable, and is not the intent of national policy.

Taking all of the above into account, it is the Case Officer's assessment that the submitted
Site Selection Report does provide adequate evidence to demonstrate that the application
site is sequentially preferable.

Furthermore, as accepted in the Church Lane appeal decision, whilst the use of higher
quality agricultural land is discouraged by the Local Plan and NPPF, the proposed solar
development would be for a temporary period of 40 years and, therefore, the agricultural
land would not be permanently or irreversibly lost. The current application scheme allows
for grazing to occur between and underneath the solar panels, which would allow for the
continuation of an alternative agricultural use and also allows for the soil condition and
structure to improve through recovery from the current intensive use.

In addition, most of the land will continue to be used for some agricultural purpose during
the operational period and can be returned to arable farming at the expiration of the

56



7.6
7.6.1

7.6.2

7.6.3

7.6.4

temporary planning permission. Also, it is accepted that the way in which agricultural land
is used is not a matter of planning control and, therefore, there is nothing to restrict the
farmer from using the fields subject to the current application for grazing use or even leaving
them to fallow. As such, whilst the proposals would limit the ability to carry out arable farming
during the operational period, this does not result in the loss of agricultural land.

In view of the above, it is Officers assessment that the proposed development would be in
accordance with Policy SP1 and Solar Energy Criteria 9 of Appendix 3 of the Local Plan
and therefore does not negatively impact the District’s agricultural land asset.

Effect of the development on the character and appearance of the area

The site is not subject to any statutory landscape designations. However, the site is located
within the Fens Landscape Character Area (South Kesteven Landscape Character
Assessment, 2007), which is defined by large scale open rectangular fields divided by
drainage ditches and embanked rivers, with sparse tree and woodland cover.

The application has been accompanied by a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment,
which reaches the following conclusions in relation to the impact on the landscape
character:

e The introduction of the Solar Farm will lead to a change of character within the
confines of the Proposed Development boundary, where the Proposed Development
is physically located. It is considered that the development will alter the landscape
character within the confines of the site, adding an industrial character to the site and
immediate site surroundings where views are possible. The magnitude of landscape
change is considered Medium to High within the confines of the Proposed
Development and the resulting significance Moderate Adverse as the site is used for
agricultural.

e Indirect change will occur outside of the Proposed Development boundary, where the
visibility of the Proposed Development has an influence on the perception of the
character of the landscape. The indirect change in landscape character is greatest in
its immediate and close surroundings where open and partial views are possible
within an approximate 0.5km radius from the development boundary. The magnitude
of change in these areas is considered Medium. The significance of landscape
effects on the landscape character is therefore considered to be Moderate Adverse.

In respect of the above, it is the Case Officer's assessment that the proposed development
would result in an impact on the landscape character of the area, as a result of the change
of use of the site and the introduction of the proposed large scale energy infrastructure.
Whilst these impacts would be softened by the proposed landscape mitigation scheme,
there would remain a residual adverse impact on the landscape character, contrary to the
requirements of Policy EN1 of the adopted Local Plan, Solar Energy Criteria 1 of the
Renewable Energy Appendix, and Section 12 of the Framework. This policy conflict falls to
be assessed within the overall planning balance discussed below.

With regards to the visual impact of the development, it is appreciated that the proposed
development would be visible to road users in the immediate area, as well as localised
residential properties. In connection with the effect on these receptors, the LVIA provides
the following assessment:

e The majority of residential dwellings in the immediate vicinity of the proposed
development are located within 1km of the site. These include residential

57



7.6.5

7.7
7.7

.72

.73

developments in Twenty and one-off houses and farmsteads to the north and west
of the proposed development.

e The highest visual effects will be experienced within an approximate 0.5km radius of
the Proposed Development boundary, from locations with open or partial views of the
Proposed Development. However, areas experiencing visibility within 0.5km, will
already have elements of electrical infrastructure visible within the local landscape.
The magnitude of visual change for views up to 0.5km is considered Medium and the
significance Moderate Adverse.

e Between approximately 1km to 5km views towards the Proposed Development will
be fully screened due to intervening landform and established mature vegetation
planting within the landscape. The magnitude of visual effects on local residents and
road users is considered Negligible and the significance Not Significant

Similar to the landscape character assessment, the proposed development would result in
a degree of visual impact, which would be reduced through the proposed landscaping
mitigation scheme, which can be secured through planning conditions. However, there
would remain a residual moderate adverse visual impact for localised receptors. As such,
the proposed development would be contrary to Policy EN1 and DE1 of the adopted Local
Plan and Section 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework. This policy conflict falls to
be assessed in within the overall planning balance.

Flood Risk and Drainage

The site is identified as being within Flood Zone 3 of the Flood Map for Planning and also
includes areas of medium risk of surface water flooding.

Local Plan Policy EN5 (Water Environment and Flood Risk Management) and Section 14
of the National Planning Policy Framework require a sequential approach to the location of
development, seeking to direct development to the areas of lowest risk of flooding. In
addition, the development is also required to pass the exception test, which obliges the
Applicant to demonstrate that the development would provide wider sustainability benefits
to the community that outweigh the flood risk, and the development will be safe for its
lifetime, without increasing flood risk elsewhere.

In connection with the above, the Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy submitted
as part of the application outlines the following:

e The Sequential Test has been carried out as part of the Alternative Sites Assessment,
which assesses a number of alternative locations and concludes that the application
site is the most suitable.

e Wider sustainability benefits — it is necessary to increase the number of solar farms
across the UK to provide renewable energy. This contributes to the reduction of
carbon emissions and supports national renewable energy targets. The local
community will benefit from the energy produced by the solar farm.

o Safety for the lifetime of the development — The areas shown to be at risk of flooding
within the application site reach 1m AOD. Therefore, as the panels will be pile drive
and lifted to be at 1.15m AOD there will be sufficient freeboard between the panel
and the flood water. Electrical infrastructure such as battery storage containers,
inverters and the substation are located within Flood Zone 1 only.

58



7.7.4

7.7.5

7.7.6

7.8
7.8.1

7.8.2

7.8.3

7.8.4

e |t is proposed to construct three soakaways/infiltration drains within the Application
Site. The location of the soakaways has been chosen on the downward slope from
the inverters. The intent is to use infiltration drainage, however, should infiltration
drainage not be suitable the discharge point will be into the drains that are on the
field boundaries within the Application Site.

Lincolnshire County Council (as Lead Local Flood Authority) have been consulted on the
application proposals and have raised no objections in relation to matters of flood risk. It is
noted that matters relating to works to any ditch, dyke or watercourse within the site would
require express written consent and also require maintenance of an appropriate 9m
easement. The submitted plans demonstrate that this can be accommodated, and they are
also regulated through the Land Drainage Act and therefore do not require any further
planning control through planning conditions.

The Environment Agency (EA) have also confirmed that they have no objection subject to
conditions requiring the submission of a further surface water management plan for
managing the risk of groundwater pollution from the BESS in the event of a fire. This is
proposed to be included as a pre-commencement condition.

Taking the above into account, it is the Case Officer's assessment that the applicant has
demonstrated that the site is sequentially preferrable and thus has passed the sequential
test. In respect of the exception test, the proposed solar farm would provide renewable
energy which would provide significant public benefits to justify the need to be located within
an area of flood risk, and subject to conditions, the site would remain safe for the lifetime of
the development. As such, subject to the imposition of conditions, the proposed
development would not give rise to an unacceptable risk of flooding and, therefore, the
development would accord with Policy EN5 of the adopted Local Plan and Section 14 of the
Framework.

Access and Highways Impacts

Access to the site is proposed to be taken via an existing field access located on Spalding
Road (A151) to the south of the site. The access is proposed to be used for the construction
of the proposed development, as well as the operational period, including the periodic
attendance by maintenance operatives. The proposed access is to be upgraded at the
bellmouth to accommodate HGVs.

Lincolnshire County Council (as Local Highways Authority) have been consulted on the
application and have raised no objections subject to the imposition of conditions requiring
the submission of a Construction Traffic Management Plan. In this respect, it is the Case
Officer's assessment that these details can be appropriately secured through conditions
requiring the submission of a detailed Construction Environmental Management Plan, which
is to include details of the vehicle routing and management of construction vehicles. This is
proposed to be imposed as a pre-commencement planning condition.

In relation to potential damage to roads resulting from intensified use, this is a matter
controlled by Section 59 of the Highways Act. An informative is to be included on the
decision notice which reaffirms the responsibilities under this Act and the ability for the
Highways Authority to recover any costs associated with repairing damage from
construction vehicles.

In view of the above, the application proposals would not give rise to any unacceptable
adverse impacts on highways safety and / or capacity during the construction, operation and

59



7.9
7.9.1

7.9.2

7.9.3

7.9.4

7.9.5

decommissioning phases of the development. As such, the application proposals would
accord with Policy ID2 of the Local Plan, Solar Energy Criteria 6 of the Renewable Energy
Appendix and Section 9 of the Framework.

Cumulative Impacts

It is noted that public representations have raised objections on the basis of the potential
cumulative impact of the development, in combination with other proposed solar on the loss
of agricultural land and the landscape and visual impact on the area.

As referenced above, it is appreciated that the application scheme is one of four solar
developments on the eastern side of Bourne. The current status of the proposals are as
follows:

e LPA Ref: S11/0431 — Limes Farm — approximately 0.5km to the south-west of the
current application site. Operational 4.6MW solar farm granted planning permission
in 2011.

e LPARef: S24/20 — Home Farm — approximately 1.2km to the south east of the current
application site. Proposed 28MW solar farm. Approved Conditionally in March 2025.

e Northorpe Fen Farm — located approximately 3.7km to the south of the current
application site. EIA Screening Opinion issued in April 2024. No application has been
submitted to date.

The existing, operational 4.6MW solar farm at Limes Farm has been operational for an
extended period of time, and as such, the assessments of the current application have
accounted for the solar farm within the baseline conditions. As such, the cumulative impacts
of the application in associated with the existing solar farm has been included within the
respective technical assessments outlined elsewhere within this report.

In respect of the cumulative impact of the current application with the recently consented
Home Farm solar farm development, the Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment
submitted as part of the application has considered the potential cumulative impact of the
other proposed developments. The submitted report concludes the following:

e The potential for cumulative views of the proposed development with the approved
planning references from the viewpoints and local area was found to be limited, as
many potential views are hindered by distance, localised variations in the topography
and screening by natural and built elements across the local landscape.

e Combined medium distance views of the existing solar farm and the proposed
development are anticipated along Spalding Road.

e Overall, views towards the proposed development are most significant for residential
receptors and road users located to the south of the current application site within
0.5km. Current cumulative views for the receptors within 0.5km of the proposed
development consist of many elements of electrical infrastructure. As such, the
addition of the proposed development would result in low change to cumulative
views.

Taking the above into account, the application proposals would result in a moderate adverse
impact on the character and appearance of the area; this harm would not be increased by
the cumulative impact of the development together with the approved Home Farm solar
development. Nonetheless, this harm falls to be weighed in the overall planning balance.

60



7.10
7.10.1

7.10.2

7.10.3

7.10.4

711
7111

Effect of the development on biodiversity and ecology

The application has been accompanied by an Ecological Assessment (Neo Environmental)
(January 2025), which identifies the following conclusions:

e The construction of the proposed development will occur over land which has been
identified primarily as agricultural or modified grassland habitat. This habitat is
generally of very low ecological value and currently offers very limited potential to
support wildlife.

e Loss of foraging and nesting habitat would cause an impact on birds which rely on
the application site (predominantly skylark). 94% of the application site has been
proposed with a variety of tussock sward, wildflower and invertebrate plants to
mitigate the removal of this land from agricultural rotation and to provide suitable
habitat to support the red-listed skylark.

e With the implementation of pre-commencement surveys and the proposed mitigation
measures, it is considered that there will be no significant negative effects upon
protected or notable species during the construction phase. The implementation of
the proposed habitat species-rich grassland planting and improvement of the
retained habitat will increase the potential of the application site to support local
wildlife. The proposed development will lead to a positive effect on biodiversity on a
local scale.

In addition, a Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment and statutory metric have been submitted
which indicate that the development would result in an increase in 130.93% habitat units
and 33.3% in watercourse units. In addition, there would be an 18.79 unit increase in
hedgerow units.

Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust have been consulted on the application proposals and have not
raised any objections. Conditions are proposed to require the submission of a detailed
Landscaping Plan based on the submitted Landscaping Strategy, as well as the submission
of a detailed Landscape and Ecological Management Plan. Similarly, conditions are
proposed to require compliance with the recommendations contained in the Ecological
Assessment, which includes the requirement to undertake further pre-commencement
surveys together with the submission of a Construction and Environmental Management
Plan (CEMP). Furthermore, the development is subject to the statutory biodiversity gain
condition, which will require the submission of a Biodiversity Gain Plan and Habitat
Management and Monitoring Plan prior to the commencement of development.

Taking the above into account, subject to the imposition of conditions, the application
proposals would accord with Local Plan Policy EN2, Solar Energy Criteria 7, Section 15 of
the National Planning Policy Framework, and the Environment Act 2021.

Effect of the development on residential amenity

The proposed solar panels themselves would not emit noise, dust or vibration during the
operational period. However, the operation of the solar farm will require the installation of
transformers and inverters which would convert the solar energy generated into AC
(Alternating Current) to be supplied to the National Grid. Furthermore, the application
includes a Battery Energy Storage System (BESS). The operation of the power conversion
units together with the battery stations would be the main sources of noise during the
operation of the solar farm. The inverters would be operational during daylight periods when
the solar panels were generating electricity; the inverters would be actively cooled with the

61



7.11.2

7.11.3

7.11.4

7.11.5

7.11.6

1.7

7.11.8

r.12
7121

operation of fans to control the temperature. The principal source of noise within the battery
system would also be the cooling fans located within the batter containers, which would
operate as required to ensure the batteries operate at their correct temporary. Whilst the
solar inverters would only operate during daylight hours, the equipment associated with the
operation of the battery stations could potentially operate on a 24-hour basis.

The Noise Impact Assessment submitted with the application concludes that the proposed
development is predicted to have only low and negligible impacts at all receptors within the
study area and no mitigation is required. The Assessment confirms that the proposed
development would generate noise levels that would not exceed the baselines noise levels
and therefore would not be harmful to residential amenity.

The Council’s Environmental Protection Team have been consulted on the application and
have raised no objections.

As such, it Is Officers assessment that, the proposed solar operations would not result in
any unacceptable adverse impacts on noise sensitive receptors and therefore, would be in
accordance with Local Plan Policy EN4 (Pollution Control), Solar Energy Criteria 5 of the
Renewable Energy Appendix, and Section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework

In respect to the potential for noise, dust and vibration to be generated as a result of the
construction and decommissioning of the proposed solar farm, the Council’s Environmental
Protection Team have raised no concerns. Conditions are proposed to require the
submission of a detailed Construction Environmental Management Plan, prior to the
commencement of development, which will reflect any updates to the proposed site layout
accounting for the results of the archaeological investigations and any further requirements
for surveys to be completed.

Furthermore, conditions are proposed to require the submission of a detailed
Decommissioning Plan, which will be required to include details relating to decommissioning
activities. Conditions are also required for the submission of an Operational Management
Plan, which will set out details of any approval for maintenance or repair works, to ensure
that these operations do not give risk to any unacceptable adverse impacts on the amenity
of residents of the surrounding villages.

It is noted that public representations have raised concerns relating to the potential loss of
privacy resulting from the construction and operation of the proposed development.
However, it is Officer's assessment that, having regard to the guidance set out within the
Design Guidelines SPD, that the proposed development would not give rise to an
unacceptable adverse impact on residential amenity such to warrant any refusal of the
application on this basis.

Taking the above into account, it is Officer's assessment that, subject to conditions, the
construction, operation and decommissioning of the proposed solar farm will not give rise
to any unacceptable adverse impacts in relation to dust, noise and vibration or residential
amenity considerations. Therefore, the application proposals would be in accordance with
Local Plan Policy EN4 and Section 15 of the Framework.

Impact on heritage assets

Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires
Local Planning Authorities to have special regard for the desirability of preserving listed
buildings and their settings, or any special architectural interest which it possesses.

62



7.12.2

7.12.3

7.13
7.13.1

7.13.2

7.14
7141

7.14.2

7.14.3

7.15
7.15.1

10
10.1

10.2

The Council’'s Conservation Officer has been consulted on the application and has raised
no formal objections.

Taking the above into account, it is Officer's assessment that the application proposals
would not result in any harm to the setting or significance of the nearby built heritage assets.
As such, the application scheme would be in accordance with Policy EN6 of the adopted
South Kesteven Local Plan, and Section 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Impact on archaeological assets

Heritage Lincolnshire (as Local Archaeological Advisors) have been consulted on the
application proposals and have confirmed that they have no objections, subject to the
imposition of conditions requiring the submission of an archaeological mitigation strategy.
This is included within the recommended schedule of conditions set out below.

Taking the above into account, subject to the recommended conditions, the application
proposals would accord with Policy EN6 of the Local Plan, and Section 16 of the Framework
in respect of archaeological matters.

Aircraft Movements and Associated Activities

Criteria 8 of the Renewable Energy Appendix requires proposals to demonstrate that the
design and positioning of the proposed solar installation has been carefully considered to
avoid the potential nuisance of glint and glare to aircraft movements.

In connection with the above, the Ministry of Defence and Civil Aviation Authority have both
been consulted on the application and no objections have been received. The MoD have
confirmed that they have no concerns in relation to glint and glare impacts.

As such, it is Officers assessment that the application proposals would not give rise to any
unacceptable adverse impacts on aircraft movements and associated activities, and
therefore, the application proposals would accord with Solar Energy Criteria 8 of the Local
Plan Renewable Energy Appendix.

Other Matters

Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue have been consulted on the application and have raised no
objections.

Crime and Disorder

It is concluded that the proposals would not result in any significant crime and disorder
implications.

Human Rights Implications

Article 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and home)
of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this recommendation. It is
concluded that no relevant Article of the Act will be breached in making this decision.

Planning Balance and Conclusions

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the Local
Planning Authority makes decisions in accordance with the adopted Development Plan,
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

The application proposals seek permission for the installation of a solar farm with associated
battery storage, comprising ground mounted solar photovoltaic panels, including mounting

63



10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

systems, inverters, transformers, electrical substation, underground cabling, stock proof
fencing, CCTV, internal access tracks and associated infrastructure for a temporary period
of up to 40 years with an exporting capacity of up to 20 megawatts.

The proposed development is located within an area of Open Countryside, where Policy
SP5 strictly limits development to those which have an essential need to be located within
such areas; this includes support for rural diversification projects, such as the current
proposals. In addition, Policy RE1 (Renewable Energy Generation) of the Local Plan
advocates a generally permissive approach to renewable energy schemes, subject to a
series of criteria which consider the site-specific associated with a particular project. As
such, the application proposals are acceptable in principle, subject to material planning
considerations.

In this context, the application proposals would make an important contribution towards
meeting the national objectives in respect of reducing greenhouse gas emissions as set out
in the Climate Change Act 2019. On a local level, South Kesteven District Council have
formally declared a climate emergency, and the published Climate Action Strategy identifies
increasing the provision of sustainable forms of energy as a key action for achieving net
zero. These matters are material considerations that weigh in favour of the application
proposals.

In respect of the effect of the development on the character and appearance of the area, it
is Officers assessment that the proposed development would result in a moderate impact
on localised visual receptors, as a result of the change of use of the site and the scale of
the proposed development. Whilst these visual impacts can be reduced through the
submitted landscaping strategy, the application proposals would still result in a minor
adverse impact, contrary to Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan and Solar
Energy Criteria 1 of the Renewable Energy Appendix.

In respect of whether there are material considerations which indicate that the proposals
should be determined other than in accordance with the adopted Development Plan, the
electricity generated by the proposed development and the contribution that this makes
towards meeting the national and local objectives of reducing reliance on fossil fuels and
reducing greenhouse gas emissions is a significant benefit which Officers attribute
substantial weight. In addition, the scheme would also achieve a biodiversity net gain which
significant exceeds the statutory 10% requirements, and therefore, Officers would attribute
this significant weight. It is appreciated that the proposed development would also attract
benefits to the local economy in association with the construction of the scheme over a
temporary period; accordingly, Officers would attribute this minor weight.

All other impacts assessed above are considered to be capable of being mitigated to a
position of being in accordance with the development plan.

Balanced against the proposal would be the minor adverse impacts on the visual
appearance of the area.

Taking all of the above into account, it is Officers assessment that the identified policy
conflicts within the Development Plan would be outweighed by the benefits. Further, it is
Officers’ assessment that the balance of material considerations in this case would also
indicate that planning permission should be granted.

64



11 Recommendation

11.1  To authorise the Assistant Director — Planning & Growth to GRANT planning permission,
subject to the proposed schedule of conditions detailed below.

65



Schedule of Conditions

Time Limit for Commencement

Time Limit for Commencement

1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of three years
from the date of this permission.

Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in
Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Temporary Permission Limits

2) Written confirmation of the first export date shall be provided to the Local Planning Authority
no later than 20 days following the event. The development hereby permitted shall cease on
or before the expiry of a 40 year period from the date of the first export of electricity from the
solar farm to the electricity grid network; excluding electricity exported during initial testing
and commissioning.

The land shall thereafter be restored to its former condition in accordance with a scheme of
decommissioning work (“Decommissioning Scheme”) which shall make provision for the
removal of the solar panels and all other associated equipment, and the subsequent
restoration of the site. The scheme shall include details of:

(a) The extent of equipment and foundation removal, and the site restoration to be
carried out;

(b) The management and timing of any works;

(c) A Traffic Management Plan to address the likely traffic impacts arising during the
decommissioning period.

(d) An Environmental Management Plan to include details of measures to be taken
during the decommissioning period to protect wildlife, habitat features and trees on
the site.

(e) The location of any temporary compound and parking areas.

(f) Full details of the removal of the solar arrays, associated buildings and plant, any
access tracks and sub-surface cabling and all associated ground restoration,
including trench backfilling.

(9) Full details of all other works to the land to allow for renewed agricultural production
following the removal of structures from the site.

(h) A programme of implementation.

The Decommissioning Scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority, no later than 39 years from the date of the first export of electricity and
shall be subsequently implemented as approved.

Reason: The proposed development has a 40 year operational period, and to ensure that the
site is fully restored to allow for agricultural use, and to maintain the rural landscape character
of the area.

Approved Plans

3) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following list
of approved plans:

66



a) Proposed Site Layout Plan (Rev I) (received 28 January 2025)

b) Standard Equipment Drawings Pack (Rev 5) (received 28 January 2025)
Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.
Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.

Power Output

4) The exported output of the solar farm hereby approved to the licenced Distribution Network
must not exceed 20 MW (AC)

Reason: To define the permission and ensure that the output of the proposal remains below
the limitations allowed under the Town and Country Planning Act.

Before the Development is Commenced
Heritage / Archaeology
Archaeological Mitigation Plan

5) Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, an Archaeological Mitigation
Strategy shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
strategy shall include:

a. A Written Scheme of Investigation for further archaeological evaluation of the site
b. A plan illustrating the location of archaeological remains on the site;

c. Areas which are designated for archaeological monitoring and recording;

d

. Proposals to ensure that significant archaeological remains are protected or, if
appropriate, set out a programme of further archaeological works to ensure that they
are recorded in advance of works on site;

e. A programme for the implementation of the archaeological mitigation strategy.

Thereafter, all works on site shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
Archaeological Mitigation Strategy.

Reason: In order to provide a reasonable opportunity to record the history of the site and in
accordance with Policy EN6 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Materials Details

6) Before any part of the development hereby permitted is commenced, a specification of the
materials to be used in the construction of external surfaces of the development shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance with
Policy DE1 and EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan; and to ensure that the
development does not result in any harm to nearby heritage assets as required by Policy EN6
of the adopted Local Plan.

Biodiversity / Ecology

Construction Environmental Management Plan

7) Before any part of the development hereby permitted is commenced, a detailed Construction
Environmental Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The submitted CEMP shall include measures to mitigate against the

67



adverse effects of vehicular movements and noise and means to manage the drainage and
ecological impacts of the construction stages of the development. The detailed CEMP shall
include:

a. Details of access construction to ensure that the proposed development can be
accessed by emergency vehicles and construction vehicles.

Construction hours
The routing and management of all construction vehicles
The parking of all vehicles and site operatives

The loading and unloading of all plant and materials

-~ ® a2 o0 T

The storage of all plant and materials used in constructing the development

Wheel washing facilities

= Q

Ecological Management Plan, including appointment of an Ecological Clerk of Works,
and the implementation of Natural England licences as required.

Relevant details of the archaeological mitigation strategy for the protection of retained
features during the construction period.

The approved CEMP shall be strictly adhered to throughout the construction period.

Reason: To minimise the effects of the construction stage of the development on the highway,
and ecological and archaeological assets.

During Building Works
Landscape and Visual Impact

Detailed Soft Landscaping Plans

8) No development above ground shall commence until details of all soft landscaping works
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details shall
be in broad accordance with the submitted Landscape Ecological Management Plan (Ref:
NEO01024 033/Rev A) and shall include:

a. Planting plans;

b. Written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated with plant
and grass establishment); and

c. Schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers / densities
where appropriate.

Reason: Soft landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the
development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Policy EN1
and DEL1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan

Flood Risk and Drainage

Surface Water Management Plan

9) The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until such time as a scheme for
the disposal of surface water in the event of a fire within the battery energy storage system
(BESS) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

68



Thereafter, the approved scheme shall be implemented before the development hereby
permitted is first brought into use, and shall be retained and maintained in full for the lifetime
of the development.

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not give risk to an unacceptable risk
of surface water flooding and groundwater pollution, as required by Policy EN4 and EN5 of
the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Flood Mitigation Scheme

10)The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted flood risk assessment
undertaken by Neo Environmental Ltd [ref: Technical Appendix 4: Flood Risk and Drainage
Scheme, dated 27 January 2025] and the following mitigation measures it details:

In particular the solar panels shall be set no lower than 1.15m above Ordnance Datum (AOD)

Reason To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development in line with Policy EN5
of the South Kesteven Local Plan

Biodiversity / Ecology

Ecological Mitigation

11)All works on site during the construction period shall be carried out in accordance with the
recommendations contained within Table 2-11 and Table 2-12 of the Ecological Impact
Assessment (Neo-Environmental) (January 2025).

Reason: In the interests of best ecological practice and in accordance with Policy EN2
(Protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity) of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Before the Development is Operational
Landscape and Visual Impact

Landscape and Ecological Management Plan

12)Before the solar development hereby permitted is operational, a Landscape and Ecological
Management Plan (LEMP) shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority and shall include details of the management and monitoring of the site
during the operational period.

Reason: To protect and enhance the existing landscape features on the site, and to mitigate
the harm to the landscape and visual characteristics of the area as a result of the
development; and in accordance with Policy EN1 (Landscape Character), EN2 (Protecting
Biodiversity and Geodiversity) and DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) of the adopted
South Kesteven Local Plan.

Landscaping Implementation

13)Before the end of the first planting / seeding season following the date when electrical power
is first exported (“first export date”), all landscaping works shown on the approved
Landscaping Strategy shall have been carried out in full, unless otherwise required by
another condition of this permission.

Reason: To mitigate the harm to the rural character caused by the proposal and to secure a
biodiversity net gain and in accordance with Policy EN1 (Landscape Character) and Policy
EN2 (Protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity) of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

69



External Material Implementation

14)Before the development is operational, the external appearance of all built form on the site
shall have been completed in accordance with the details approved by Condition 6 above.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance with
Policy DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Access / Highways

Operational Environmental Management Plan

15)Before the date of the first export of electricity from the development hereby permitted, an
Operational Environmental Management Plan (OEMP) relating to any maintenance or repair
works of the approved development shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that the solar farm continues to generate electricity; and to mitigate the
impacts of any further construction works required for the repair or replacement solar arrays;
in accordance with Policy RE1 (Renewable Energy Generation) of the adopted South
Kesteven Local Plan.

Ongoing
Landscape and Visual Impact

Lighting Details

16)No permanent illumination of the site shall be permitted unless otherwise agreed in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. In such circumstances, prior to the erection of any external
lighting on site, a lighting plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details and thereafter retained for the lifetime of the development.

Reason: To protect the rural character of the site and in accordance with Policy EN1
(Landscape Character) of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Compliance with LEMP

17)The approved development must be carried out in accordance with the approved Landscape
and Ecological Management Plan.

Reason: To protect and enhance the existing landscape features, and to mitigate the harm
to the landscape and visual characteristics of the area as a result of the development; and in
accordance with Policy EN1 and DEL1 of the adopted Local Plan.

Landscape Protection

18)Within a period of five years from the first export date, any trees or plants provided as part of
the approved Landscaping Plan that die or become, in the opinion of the Local Planning
Authority, seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced in the first planting season
following any such loss with a specimen of the same size and species, unless otherwise
agreed by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To mitigate the harm to the rural character caused by the proposal and to secure a
biodiversity net gain and in accordance with Policy EN1 (Landscape Character) of the
adopted Local Plan.

70



Early Decommissioning

19)In the event that the site ceases to generate electricity for a period of 12 months prior to the
cessation of the 40 year period, a scheme of Decommissioning Works (“Early
Decommissioning Scheme”) shall be submitted no later than 6 months from the end of the
12 month non-electricity generating period to the Local Planning Authority for approval in
writing. The early decommissioning scheme shall include the same details required under the
Decommissioning Scheme set out in Condition 2 of this permission.

Thereafter, the early decommissioning scheme shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.

Reason: To ensure that the solar farm continues to generate electricity or is otherwise
removed to the benefit of the character and appearance, and agricultural productivity of the
District; in accordance with Policy EN1 and RE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

71



Standard Note(s) to Applicant

1)

2)

3)

4)

5)

6)

In reaching the decision, the Council has worked with the applicant in a positive and
proactive manner by determining the application without undue delay. As such it is
considered that the decision is in accordance with Paragraph 38 of the National Planning
Policy Framework (2024).

The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
is that planning permission granted for the development of land in England is deemed to
have been granted subject to the condition "(the biodiversity gain condition") that
development may not begin unless:

(a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and
(b) the planning authority has approved the plan.

The planning authority, for the purposes of determining whether to approve a Biodiversity
Gain Plan if one is required in respect of this permission would be South Kesteven
District Council.

There are statutory exemptions and transitional arrangements which mean that the
biodiversity gain condition does not always apply. These are listed below.

Based on the information available this permission is considered to be one which will
require the approval of a biodiversity gain plan before development is begun because
none of the statutory exemptions or transitional arrangements listed below are
considered to apply.

The developer should produce a risk reduction strategy (Regulation 38 of the Building
Regulations) as the responsible person for the scheme as stated in the Regulatory
Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005. We would also expect that safety measures and risk
mitigation is developed in collaboration with LFR.

Applicants will also need to comply with relevant Building Regulations in Part B. They
require applicants to provide suitable access for the fire service. Battery storage falls
within the scope of the UK’s producer responsibility regime for batteries and other waste
legislation. Operators’ of battery storage facilities should be aware of the Producer
Responsibility Regulations. When a battery within a battery storage unit ceases to
operate, it will need to be removed from the site and dealt with in compliance with waste
legislation. The party discarding the battery will have a waste duty of care under the
Environmental Protection Act 1990 to ensure that this takes place. The Waste Batteries
and Accumulators Regulations 2009 also apply

In accordance with Section 59 of the Highways Act 1980, please be considerate of
causing damage to the existing highway during construction and implement mitigation
measures as necessary. Should extraordinary expenses be incurred by the Highways
Authority in maintaining the highway by reason of damage caused by construction traffic,
the Highways Authority may seek to recover these expenses from the developer.

Please contact the Lincolnshire County Council Streetworks and Permitting Team on
01522782070 to discuss any proposed statutory utility connections, Section 50 licences
and any other works which will be required within the public highway in association with
the development permitted under this Consent.  This will enable Lincolnshire County

72



Council to assist in the coordination and timings of these works. For further guidance
please visit the Highway Authority’s website via the following link: Traffic Management -

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/traffic-management

73


https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/traffic‐management

Proposed Site Layout

122

’ | U ‘;‘l Project: |Limes Farm Solar
’ - l':‘ Title: Indicative Layout
; Technology: Solar PV + BESS
,J I.' Solar PV Capacity: | 20Mwac s
({ f BESS Capacity: 16MW / 32MWh
[
[
| I
‘f EE— | \
| === ey
Drain | B '
‘ / :
|
§ | |
13 ' ’{
\ g i I
|
l U
|
\ Track
| Track g
E,

; — |
Track

U
]
Q e _”, | oM W Shccage Tam Adced an | v
' 15 E 1 = — pnf-wey ovpereginlll 1
P [ MEE Deacrizicn e |2
‘ (-] || ﬁ 0‘ l|| .
| | \ Drawing Version: |
, s B | Paper Size: Al
—_—— t
p— Track 'g
— ‘ ¥ Drawing Scale: 1:2500
# .l L
‘ — ] | I g \ Drawn:  |Dean McDonald 24/10/2024
e il
e — g || I Checked: | Alexander Brown 241102024
| |
‘ . | ||.' Approved: | Matthew Bebward 2411012024 |
‘ " | .I‘
1 t
] ‘ ” l ‘ ||- L ]
—————— ‘ " r
| | Downing
) |
i ‘ o Lo ‘ 0 ||. o n'n
Al ‘ I Il Chegtras Far ‘ v Renewable Developments f
[—————w&. Lodge Farm ! D e —d
P e - e, = | { c— — — —_— - = = - . ~ — S— — —_—— —
—— - - _— ---; — T w T m = T O T T L/l T ‘r. T T T O T




=74

Proposed Landscaping Plan

Cine Lardscaze JessHNians, L et Sttt e it P s e St g S Key
i et b = bt o B o by d o bt b b b e = o o

s s S = = e =] = | o= = R =

Ary secsaaary works being endetaten wihin closs prodmity aad % s Side Fostures
ttained Fee e MadgeTes stockd be Caed At 1 accordance W DI M 3T ] [rateed tue

62010 Tree work Recomrercatons and 05 5202012 Trees
ason 10 esgs Cemoliton and coneracson et

e p———— o —— ) sow s

e T : —
= e | = [o ] » gl nades
1

[ e B S

R PP B e

[T el Bl Bl Bttt
et
o-9on

Przponed Plarcisg:

Pantng o be sppied In sccordance wilh 55 3000-1:1960 Nurwary Seock
speciication for Sees and  wwuba, 05 J0G42007T  Murseny
Shock Specliceion Ko fowat e, goplam 33 wilows, 05 8545301 e ssies
Tassaom ramery 0 iIndependerce & e andecape. AN
works © be 0 acconiwcs with BS4A0N 1560 "Genersl L PR c— oo a e ¥ -
Works * Al slanting shout! Be sccced Ao OCH SOVERance Carfledd e e Lot Baien | OB vy ke
aeed Ok Whew possbie accd Som a0 appeoved sappler of the Greer
Low-Carton, Agn-Erwscnmant Scharme (GLAS | cfher soacas wil nesd i

te apgroeed ktmcns wpe e [ J TSRS PO

ot Nt
ot e bt o - L ] (et
]

— P Sp— o e —— FR—

B

yleieir|y
s|a|E|%(3

-~ e Lo

forans s e s S A

wivwlwlslnle
HELULEIEE
HHILILILILIL

e e s s O

Proposad Tree Planting(11n0.) Frapousd Seciety Fesarg

Mecgecan Piweing

The rew hedperws will S plarted i & hand dug een »

i of E00rwe wide 3nd J0rws deep, Sowing 90 WAt 30d Pt Korfoman e - o 2
ewwing te

—_— i

St Bt

Proposed Hedgerow Planting
(5304Sq Meters)

L E Measures

P G
£ Can possisy acheve Suter Ming out of gape of ks fuan m wide. Price g P
1 planitng L GaoE in e exaing Sedguows ary 3oub o iy $hodd be

claased fore around s basss. The saating sod snould be impeoved ty [0 —— Vnsbeamovet
dQang 1 wel 10wt Farm Yad Marsre or ceber scd mrercem Al Bedgag
i be wpporied wih bt guarts and Cwwes and Sn eide mukch oo wee Hmige Budet ou
rattng Terparary Bock peool Srong ahouc be ssed 1 wvert graong

R td
of new hacgerows by Ivesiock f recessary e sestmnn -

=3 Provonss Macgerow Ping 12,3045 Metw
I HVWMR@MI.

- Tlnd vy

mEE [om— Propcaed Tres Planting (0o |
% Popoasd WidSowsr M (27 25453 Mater)

Propossd rventedods Hotels no |

HIRILD

Geassiasd & Widhawer Plaing: Sile Boundary
T Satta wil e sown wih 5 kow growing specien rich gramsland rax, [T . | Mea P ANALAS | g e | B
which wil be Ighfly graued By sheep o ating This seedng mix should bel
apphed omly 13 sess of daturbed lands wiltun e meas Pokated oo e b e Comtnt Dt | 908 s sonimens. [rehomy 4
plar. The arees of meland widflower reis wil be sepacsted om Proposed Secuiity Fendn
@raasiand by 3 sock-proof lencing T grevent avy posable granng Sy Y )
awTan

&

Tl P

[S= £ 1 SR P RY Snaten Guasa Pty Mt

| Mecigerow Mix: - Proposed Solar Array
T be Favied Up as bofh sew and Il kengttx of Sedgerows.
Planted as doutie stagoersd ros st § per mete 30d spacng of

00400rws 3 e Sedgerow or ndwidaaly 32 1 mecr gape.
e iS comiMn parcertages of phweng as apeched boow

pomom s smaas

- ame

oeas oo
Praaz oo poas — — Compourd
Crategus mencgyrs. Hawdeoe, 143 90-130cs B o P - ....._ . A

st

-

ractpntse

Sotlan

o e ] TOL - e tiofrna

e | 3 | G [omminen] o Propesed Substation

Daackthorm, 142 30-120cn IR
Coriyss svtians. Harsl 42 30-1200m B
Acer carpease, Fiekd Miagle. 150-2000m he, min. 2 tranchwa, RO
Az gharcas, Ader, 150-200cre it mea. 1 boanches, RD
Quercas mdur. Engheh Oak. 150-200c it min. 2 beanches, RS
Maha spfveastz, Crab Apphe, 125-150cm % rein. 2 brarches, RO
Grasalsss ans Wikt ower Wizss:
Specks rch grassiand o comist of 3 ma of Soe grasss sng
racI ren

Some el el Proposed Access Track

Proposed WidNower Mix

Firm granx specas wil coreet of SpecEs Bach 3K
Siender Cwepng Rec Feicue Smooh-cahed MasIoe-5am ans
Created Dogatal Proposed Invertebrate Holsl (3n0.)

Witiowsr species wil conmet of speces sach 2

Yarow, Agerory Leaser Dudoex, Coromon Krapaeed . Gosster
Frapweed, Wik Cavct. ‘Wi Teasel Masdowswest Mecpe Becutan
Mesdow Crare 's-2il Flekd Scablous. Meadow Veiching Chmye Dary.
Muck Mafiow Rvwort Pavan Ssec Dumet Red Carpeon, Talled
Vet Dasder Carpon.

O Proposed Power Station

Temporary Construction Compound
The Fmaard maes wil 36 sppiac ss Dlows Anm of 1pecier Sverse

Prassiand Sensath e opent of S sotr Sene vl e sesded MY e

whade ibenwdt grasstend mox 3t s e of Xhgha Al other areas of

apecn dverss graastand wil Se seeded M e wiclower Teadow M

D% widiower and Q0N tusscck prasess af & rade of 200g%a. The

widower maadow mix areas wil be seeced with wiSower Peadow mix

a1 30% widiower 300 B0 tusscck Grasss at » rade of

Adgta

Timiog & Atercare

Piargng of f hedgerow moms 1o thke jiace dring e Tonte of Proposed Tree Planting(21no.)

N 3t e tma of plarding and mgunty cumng ther fret pear. AS
hedguow and Tee specis Wil hass 3 TEemem b wde radus
fue of soy weads wrid ) pews afier plartng. when they me wel
ezl Weading wil be done aeng & mch mad aad = Orssen 8y Low Pttt
meroved haicide 38 requined In arder B aeevent Conpestion Address #1 Bridoe Street
ruteTs SOT weecs and ganses ;,r,?:‘,ty‘_,-p
Sytran SEW.
The plantng uppors and guarts wil te repeced segulaty i Urrdad Kingdom
e Sy M Ot MOeITg the piart's prow 304 wdll be sdusted
or mpiaced aa recuied. Thass wil be sercesd whan the slasing
ntasiatud wids he nkal 3 years.

Arvas of grasstand o Be plarted N eary 5pAng of lem survrer The

watiowsr mix Wil need 1o be confrcoesly manmged wih an

prTpeate Cuing fegiTe 0 Mk & Ngh vl of  Sowesng

pecis. ¥ avy mess become scaece of wikdlomen Pams shoud be

resanbisted a eqares The wic bexd cead rux wil be mplced on

N aas beas

The new tadgeow plartng wil be mduced by & faxd In beght

mmeckeialy altar plardng b Rewthort and blackBom, Wi ot o gm T m

weces Ighly prased and cut e i e fint st Pasing wib
bo requind in e second yaar B ercoumge busty grows by
mmoving tall of e praviocs pea’s powth.  The plarts Wil be
agad o the 2U year 3y Fimming bolh el anc eacs Sanches. ESTABLISHMENT & MAINTENANCE SEAA A IS Rl oo P o1 Pr e B s R g 1] > Pl Ll b s fagafe s fofofaf o sf e w g |
3"":"‘““‘";)_"‘;:‘- “;‘;‘A’"" SCHEDULE YEAR O TO YEAR § AN DTN = e AT IS Ty wriei [ocioss ENy T
Tear Mould B¢ mciuded Som fing and slowsd © pow
upwasda. Al hadge auting wil be trcarihen cutside of e nesting L s A9t 20 B On b ol s b 84 o 4 Pased by wad Erecdind wwhe b ewer il v e sl Lirnde che Snbe gy Bepud |

The grasstand wil Se ranmped Sy Igh! granng of Calng sevensd " Wened Caraod

bird pedad Segamng of Maxch o end of Augesd. Crdi CAWG P30S Mrhavil Of Cimer gl g ch o 1 | | | l

Srmas i the St year 13 03508 COMPEILLE T vl aseds and LRI L

Sow the grae 1o bacome estatiahed. Weeds Tay s need T ———— I |
Puaing TrTGh EpOl THAETANT WIN 27 S5EIOPIEN ATprTeed -.

| ||| |

i T

1

Farm
munw-mrvnmn-ﬁawém v Mo M L s CHS She B San. i iy Client Downing Renewable

E
E

No garng or uting wil Se urdermhan betwsen Vo o o o Gt Tow | % Smamame
Mo rpackeg rasirg so@ta ymm..‘dh‘,‘:’ ."av'.l‘-n-'.—-na-nw SuisSeuiiny Developments LLP (DRD)

Anudn:.:‘a‘ - [ —— L IProject Mo  MEDOC1024
i i arviney reed -y

Sates of meeds 303 persistant weeds. The wicdiowsr ma wil be
martared Ty an avesl Of afer they hass oeerec. wih e 02 B0 o N s &t Wl S B B D Sare)

BOCRAGA O DO Do Dkt Caou, 1 S0 (e

Drawing No. - NEQO1024 033 A

Drawen: LP Cheched: Approved. KE

Fowhs slowed 10 5 10 risass ary seeds 20 1 4 being removes ACEACH OF Sy |
off ste

Tl
i

— — —
B e can e

11 11 | I 22012024 A

Acry kcnn of planting which ocoum Wit § peas of the inftl planting oA
= u remtt of plant falre will be seplaced With the xame Sant Gl Pracoereat of s ewcicos heten
weces

Agricultural Land Classification Plan




9.

B indertaan RASA WA LR4 b Comermnty Augs Cordobaton B9 U Dot Tom bam,
Oorrwn, Faunger e Cecletriodsgun, w VETIMARE LA04

Figure 1 - Agricultural Land Classification Survey Map

B Grecw 3
Goaoe T2

Pate: 23507/2024




	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 3 April 2025
	Minutes

	4a Application S25/0203
	1 Description of Site
	2 Description of the Proposal
	3 Policy Considerations
	4 Representations Received
	5 Representations as a Result of Publicity
	6 Evaluation
	7 Crime and Disorder
	8 Human Rights Implications
	10Recommendation

	4b Application S24/2191

